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DEAR OUR RESPECTED
SHAREHOLDERS,

| would like to mention that 2019 is a
proud and special year for our Compa-

ny.

Firstly, on 21 August 2019, H.E Daw
Aung San Suu Kyi, the State Counsellor,
visited Thilawa Special Economic Zone
for the first time accompanied by the
Union Ministers from the Cabinet, U
Phyo Min Thein, the Chief Minister of
Yangon Regional Government, and the
other ministers. | would like to inform
our Shareholders that, during the visit,
she was very happy with the momen-

tous development of the Special Eco-

nomic Zone, and also stated that since

SEZ includes not only the high quality
manufacturing facilities but also the
residential buildings, the security as
well as the benefits is also crucial in the
successful development of the Special

Economic Zone.

Secondly, on 5" March 2020, MTSH has
successfully been awarded for Gyogone
Housing Redevelopment Project”, the
tender which was invited by Yangon Re-
gional Government and Department of
Urban and Housing Development
(DUHD). This development project is lo-
cated on 17 acres of land in West Gyo-
gone, and it is also located near Yangon
Institute of Technology (YIT) between

Insein Main Road and Baho Road. It is
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also near the Gyogone Railway Station.
This is for the re-development of Staff
Housing with International standards
with the purpose of overall social, eco-
nomic, health and educational develop-
ment. The upgrade of circular railway
network and new lines extension at In-
sein Railway Station by Government
with the support of the Loan from Japan
as part of Transit Oriented Develop-
ment (TOD) will be a key to unlock the
success of our Gyogone project. Moreo-
ver, the project is not far away from the
second CBD project in Mindamma
Road. Therefore, the advantages of the
location of the Project will help MTSH as
a prime real estate project which will
generate profits in the future. We will

continue to seek more opportunities to

participate in the projects which will
generate returns to our shareholders
and which will also play important roles
in the development of the Nation’s Ur-

ban and Housing Based Facilities.

Thirdly, as per the Security Exchange
Commission of Myanmar (SECM)’s lib-
eralization of foreign participation in
the Yangon Stock Exchange, the trading
of shares has been allowed for both res-
ident and non-resident foreigners since
March 20, 2020. Accordingly, MTSH
Board of Directors has unanimously de-
cided to allow up to 5% of shareholding
in MTSH for the foreigners at the begin-
ning and will expand the foreigners
trench when the demand grows further
and if it benefits the Company. | would
proudly like to inform that, at present,
among YSX listed companies, MTSH is
the Company with the highest demand
for shares purchase from both Myan-

mar Citizens and the foreigners.

Due the change in reporting period for a
financial year by the Government, this
year’s annual report and the financial
statements are for financial year 2019,
beginning from April 2019 to Septem-
ber 2019 which is a total of 6 months
instead of usual 12 months report. In
comparison with last year’s 12 months’
total net profit of 15.61 billion Kyats,
the total net profit for this year’s 6
months period is 8.275 billion Kyats
and, thus, we can see that, in terms of
the total net profit, the performance is
better if compare to 6 months period.
Our earnings per share is also healthier
for this year with 211 kyats in six months
period compared to 398 kyats per share
in last 12 months period. As of 30% Sep-
tember 2019, MTSH had a strong cash
balance of 28.218 billion kyats with no
borrowing. Therefore, MTSH will be

able to make further investments in the
opportunities which will grow our

shareholders’ return.

The above-mentioned strong profit is
due to the management of Myanmar
Japan Thilawa Development (MJTD),
which is jointly invested and managed
by us and our business partners, as well
as our subsidiary, Thilawa Property De-
velopment Co Ltd. (TPD), which has in-
volved in construction businesses, the
rentals and sales of residential and com-
mercial (R&C) buildings and increase in
occupancy of workers dormitories. With
the further development of Thilawa
Special Economic Zone, we would like
to inform our Shareholders that we will
generate more income from R&C build-
ings and thus will see increase in the

annual steady income.

During this difficult time of global pan-
demic, it is natural for Companies to re-
serve its cash flow, but our Board of Di-
rectors has unanimously decided to
declare a dividend of 200 Kyats per
share with the intention to support our
shareholders’ financial needs passively
during this tough time for income and
cashflow. | would also like to record and
thank each and every one of our Board
of Directors for agreeing and taking this

decision unanimously.

Additionally, | would like to proudly in-
form that MTSH was recognized by Yan-
gon Stock exchange (YSX) with two
awards this year for its performances.
One award is for Best Return on Equity
and another for Best Share Price in
2019. This awarding ceremony is ex-
pected to be held in the later part of
2020. This is the testament to MTSH’s
favorable share price, solid business op-

eration, robust financial performance
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and profits. We will continue to work

hard to uphold this prestige.

On October 23", | was presented an
award with the special honour for 2019
Myanmar Real Estate Personality of the
Year from Property Guru Group, South-
east Asia’s leading property technology
Company in recognition of our contri-
butions to Myanmar’s industrial devel-
opment and economy through Thilawa
Special Economic Zone, which | have
successively involved in the role of lead-
ing from the early stage of negotiation
to the implementation and continuous
developments. This Real Estate Person-
ality of the Year award is a very prestig-
ious award in Asia’s Real estate Sector
and is only awarded to an individual
who has made a significant impact in
the sector. Therefore, | would like to
thank our Government, MTSH BOD
members and our shareholders who
gave me the opportunity to perform to
get such an award, and the directors,
the management team and staffs from
our partners, MJTD and TPD, who made
the Thilawa Special Economic Zone look

significantly outstanding.

| would like to further inform that we
have made the purchase of our own
head-office space at Penthouse of Shwe
Zabu Riverview Complex’s Tower A, lo-
cated at Strand Road, Ahlone Township.
Board of Directors decided that since
the real estate sector was stagnant, it
will be the best time for us to get a com-
petitive pricing. We will upgrade it to be
an international standard office and will
expand more businesses in the future

too.

This period is the period where the
whole world is suffering from Covid-19

Pandemic, the like of which has not
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been seen for 100 years. Despite the
Global Pandemic, thanks to the leader-
ship of our Government, unlike other
countries all over the world who are se-
verely suffering, our Country is not ex-
periencing a lot of negative effects due
to people participation and contribu-
tions of Voluntary Associations, it seems
to be in a contained state. However, due
to the impact, the consequences could
be on the international businesses be-
ing hurt or even collapsed. Currently,
the Board of Directors and the employ-
ees have drawn up Business Continuity
Plan (BCP), and are implementing Work-
from-Home (WFH) systems by working
at home and office in shift-by-shift in
order to avoid the impact of Pandemic
on the current operations as much as
we could. Moreover, in order to see
continuous growths financially and to
seize any business opportunities possi-
ble after Covid-19 period, we are devel-
oping economic master plans and plans
to minimize financial risks. In order to
convene Annual General Meeting be-
fore June as per Myanmar Companies
Act and to issue the dividends that the
Shareholders have been anticipating,
we have to arrange this AGM in the for-
mat of online webinar. If required, we
have also made arrangements for on-
line voting. These arrangements are as
per the requirements of Ministry of
Health and Sports and other authorities
for the control of Covid-19 spread and
social distancing. This will also be the
first time in History of Myanmar Com-
panies. Therefore, we would like to
kindly request your understanding if
there is any shortcoming during the

event.

In conclusion, financial year 2019 was a
good year with the honorable visit of

State Counselor, new chapter in invest-

ing in the Nation’s urban and general
development project which is different
from the early days’ investments in Thil-
awa Special Economic Zone and its re-
lated businesses, positive financial gains
with strong cash reserves and profits,
and expansion of businesses for the fu-
ture milestones. However, we will face
one of the biggest challenges of the
century in 2020. During this challenging
period, there will also be the opportuni-
ties and, in order to seize these oppor-
tunities with the best outcomes, our
Directors and staffs will continue to ac-
complish with hard-work and systemat-
ic and correct decision makings. | would
like to thank the directors, the manage-
ment and all the staff at MTSH, MJTD
and TPD for all your contribution in
making us become an exemplary public
company with high level of corporate
governance and solid standing. | would
also like to thank our Shareholders for
their support by continuously and faith-
fully investing in our company. | would
like to promise that we will continue to
maintain the successes in becoming a
leading public company which have
been seen since the establishment sev-

en years ago.
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CORPORATE PROFILE

Our company, Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings
Public Co., Ltd. was incorporated on 3 May 2013
in Myanmar under the Companies Act as a pub-
lic limited company. Our company was initially
established by a Myanmar Consortium compris-
ing of nine founding shareholders initially for
participating in the Zone A industrial park devel-
opment within the Thilawa Special Economic
Zone, which the Myanmar Government and the
Japanese Government have co-invested to de-
velop pursuant to the Cooperation Memoran-
dum. On the 20" of May 2016, our company’s
shares commenced trading on the Yangon Stock
Exchange. Our company is the second company
to be listed on the Yangon Stock Exchange and
the first developer of a Special Economic Zone of

Myanmar to do so.

The nine founding shareholders of the Company
are as follow:

1. First Myanmar Investment Public Com-
pany Limited

2. Golden Land East Asia Development
Limited

3. Myanmar Agribusiness Public Corpora-
tion Limited

4. Myanmar Agricultural & General Devel-
opment Public Limited

5. Myanmar Edible Qil Industrial Public
Corporation Limited

6. Myanmar Sugar Development Public
Company Limited

7. Myanmar Technologies and Investment
Corporation Limited

8. National Development Company Group
Limited

9. New City Development Public Company
Limited

With (17,146) of shareholders recorded to date,
MTSH is the public listed company with the high-

est number of shareholders in Myanmar.

: 151830293
Certificate of Commencement of Business
66 of 2013-2014

Company Registration Number

Joop 95bicecy (p)qodesapl [g§eraBaod 2205(8)
2Bsach Bisbs 00docdmgPisE 2005e8EGmmgAd
B850 [gEwnfEeamngaByp:  :05poesstanpd
gPi5E005 BEeamopgBdmalgd ¢ opdionpdeconé
3081 q§opsdBEieamofodn  cogpadon§s(§iscd
2038:§ Bodlesoogl [gien-qo§ $68E¢e:q
pe0lEieamnqodes: oo §0gomq 005680005
meomnEmoopdendond mopBigieqd 8303503
B§o>-qofopgoBapBE oobobopged cgecont
:6AI8:p603Eee00EGa5FAlo0bI Sgp:dEag® (B)
99 SeantBigodlgd [g§erBrod  2205(8)3Biacd
0338200500006 P25 E 0058000 MHgBABBaad
o3 0onEonpbeccnéydlaopd  joob gsdiceco (o)
qode50RE  mgBel  3aco€meesnEgEeondemlgd
§$0750602;3364[5:05€ c32E[gEgn 006 E:0E8EF 2005
BfgE  gfops0c0nBEgirE  0qE:08885000d
ocoeBiedieomn  mopigsequafopt  qE:8sgdscon:
20 opgB[gddlaopdi cnwmcogop  SagPis&aond
feom orgB (glogo -

o 605(8)[gsen 328005(8)3(§) opgaBcB8onnd

Jr 0g8&em0q3ngd Brodionodes:
opgReB8 0005

o1 [6§60 320§ 009505 0obodeSJeqeqC:
880005

g1 [gfercocbanogabordsé sacagaced BroB:
000566 2gPs3E 880005 (32668aB8320505)

g1 [5569900580005(cB)35fEx(cS) 328305000§
qoS 6053aepqCs (20633:33E853) 88onod

G [g§enoofopsg Brodoncdees sagp:dEanga®
880005

Q@ [§eseSiopst a&:§4408q coPoqrqf:
880005

o agfoo:d Bpodion0deqeapde mgaBaddaonad

e [B.e05208¢ BroBioncdeqemagpidEopgaBal

23308 2:pq0SomqEed: (0q,066): §oooBe vog

29503 [gSen§E0r¢ :equSumnglaagpiadiclodoogd
gP25E0053E6000 orgR[gddlaopd

0EBe05600EI005 : 05000 2P
09dc§s000E6a008gr50050005905 : 6 ( joop- Joog)



Vission . Mission . Values

VISION

To invest in the development of Thilawa SEZ, Yangon Region,
for all round socio and economic growth of the Republic of
the Union of Myanmar and to become a regional leader

attracting foreign direct investments
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MISSION

To create value for all our shareholders, investors, partners,
employees and communities by investing and providing
reliable, sustainable business environment through the
development of word class industrial and commercial
infrastructure with responsible international practices and

good governance ensuring long term growth.
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CORPORRATE VALUE

SUSTAINABILITY / cegpSonpSorlac:

The process followed diligently to manage financial, social and environmental risks, obligations and opportunities.

TRANSPARENCY / g&co:[gEare§ac

There is a real need for the business to be open with all stakeholders.

RESPONSIBILITY / 0>0808ee:
Beyond normal CSR with a responsibility to prevent human rights harms, whilst ensuring corrective avenues are
available for infringements.

EFFICIENCY / 53([gSwaiadigbicannEllen:
Maximize outputs from given inputs, and in doing so, minimize costs.

NOTABLE / @crgempogcngggeq

Significant, memorable and worthy of attention.

GOAL ORIENTED / @sx?ogef,Sooé qéacﬁqcﬁo%o%g chogéjeqs

Focus on tasks and the end results of those tasks.

TRAINING / G@q@mg@:eochs

Develop employee skills to keep the business competitive.

HEALTH AND SAFETY / ood%meq Gmgec{xﬁﬁss 0380% 88 m‘%qxﬁm&cl&ecr

Identify workplace health and safety risks and put together comprehensive risk mitigation measures.

g
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Thilawa SEZ Management
Committee Company

Limited

CORPORATE STRUCTURE

9 Founding
Shareholders

Myanmar Thilawa SEZ o
Holdings Public Co.Ltd

v Public
Shareholders

. Japan International
! Corporation Agency

Thilawa Property Myanmar Japan
Development Thilawa
Limited Devel t Limited y
imite evelopment Limite IS Thilawa
Development Co.,Ltd
:10%'I

Note :

MMS Thilawa Development Co.,Ltd owned by
(1) Mitsubishi Corporation, (2) Marubeni Corporation, (3) Sumitomo Corporation
(4) Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, (5) Mizuho Bank and, (6) MUFG Bank

Independent Directors

MTSH BOARD STRUCTURE

CHAIRMAN
1

VICE
CHAIRMAN
2

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS DIRECTORS DIRECTORS
3 5 2

Non-Executive Directors Executive Directors

BOARD OF DIRECTORS" PROFILE

U Win Aung is the Chairman of the My-

anmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Co.,
Ltd. He is one of the initiators and the
lead negotiator between Japan and My-
anmar Government leaders as well as
founder Chairman for Myanmar private
sector's involvement in the implemen-
tation of the Thilawa SEZ jointly with the
Japanese investors, to create invest-
ment opportunities for Myanmar Citi-

zens.

U Win Aung founded and continues as
the Chairman of the Dagon Group of
Companies since its establishment in
1990. Since 1993, Dagon Group of Com-
panies has successfully implemented prop-
erty development projects. Dagon
Group of Companies engages in wide
range of business in general trading,
residential and commercial develop-
ment such as shopping malls, hotel de-
velopment, integrated agricultural de-
velopment, value added food industry,
logistics and distribution, automobile
distribution, petroleum distribution,
and in other business sectors, He is the

Chairman of Myanmar Agro Exchange

U WIN AUNG

Chairman

Date of Appointment
Last Re-elected

: 8lJuly 2013

29 September 2018

Public Limited which specializes in agri
value chain & infrastructure develop-
ment such as Danyingon vegetables,
fruits and flower wholesale market. He
is also founder and Chairman of Golden
Land East Asia Development Limited
(GLAD), which is one of the founding
public companies of MTSH. He is a
board secretary representing Yangon
Regional Government at Yangon Metro-
politan Development Public Co., Ltd
(YMD) a joint venture company between
Yangon Regional Government and Myan-
ma Construction and Development
Public Co., Ltd which aims to develop &
upgrade greater Yangon City & Yangon

Region.

He is also Patron of the Myanmar Con-
struction Entrepreneurs Federation
(MCEF) and Myanmar Licensed Con-

tractors Association (MLCA) as well.

U Win Aung was elected as President of
Union of Myanmar Federation of Cham-
ber of Commerce and Industries from
2011 to 2016.

He was also Chairman of ASEAN Busi-
ness Advisory Council (ABAC) (2013-
2014) and Chairman of Greater Mekong
Sub-region Business forum (GMS-BF)
(2012-2014). He was also one of the
members of National Economic and So-
cial Advisory Council (NESAC) & UN-ES-
CAP Advisory Council.

Bio€iemEo0pd Myanmar Thilawa SEZ
Holdings Public Co., Ltd &l pgaglg®dloogbn
Bio8se3308 0005 gromeo BBrodlsacpBignieq;
@8 :60mEz00p5 cilednbongEaeazacyad
qos8Eese [g§e08Eee:ndiqeny, s3[0%ea0d
qpioalop: p3§iigiap: 000BqoBaf: quod
880 vbciqEqpss 03endq) [gFen§Esomm:
qp: af8g0satafiabst sqpdgeSopapry
3eqaSom  copfobilal  ggadormrpg
B:0900E38E: cneonoojgopondB: [gbdAlaopdn

Broseanongb Dagon Group of Companies
B opEo 95603€ B:ee0n8onpbeconEFdlaspd
Dagon Group of Companies aop5 336ep
$ [BpeeBondSiqpiod opep 9560008 ooty
eangEgrmcomancopiesdeenntgaddd
20051 0p§09000005eSigps KBonuSadess
shopping mall gpsi 2005$cv0SumBodsesg
co6cdigps 008843 0600005075005
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oqEodn  sa0[gdm6e00053BiqpisC  34qps
06530680005 :033gP:0]  0pSeennod
;eonznopded(gl: 8603§:03 celesond
aqo§00p0 [6§er3205083305(B)§$: saqp:0E
880005 (Myanmar Agro Exchange Public
Ltd. MAEX)o3 BseeonEonpSeamnton pomg
00884g60loopdn S:0Cse83080005 MTSH opé
58 BreaonEiloConpbeconteon sagp:dE
opgadgPiopt 00dp3adizaotigdearn Golden

Land East Asia Development Limited
(GLAD)el  pgrgondBsconls  [gbloopSu
B3:[gE B:o€:e3082005 gf0p§o3E:eaanlod:
08iqea3.3¢ [Gherescncopbecisty Broq:

U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun is the Vice

Chairman of the Board of Directors and
one of the Principal Shareholders of the
Company. He is also the Chairman of
Serge Pun and Associates (SPA), First
Myanmar Investment Company Limited
(FMI), Yoma Strategic Holdings (YSH)
and Memories Group Limited (Memo-

ries).

HpsC 0058860 opgaBcB800d
(Myanmar Construction and Develop-
ment Public Co., Ltd.) o3 ¢:cd&{G: Son§
[B.e0x5§RoB:000566:5E 390 [gEonEeqpn?
eSqeSd) ocbiongloccntonniasg ooy
00500808008 s3uSuenReé vobocdoyga®
880005  (YMD-Yangon
Development Public Co., Ltd.) &l g§0p8

Metropolitan

BE:ea00[0mBiqadel  0moSeoigdsag
95075 03E:m08iqeagam: o3udongdi§odom
A=Y & 200zE:6qe000503  GOODSH
08006 omo§oobieeontesonodBiods
[g8Sl00pSi 0paopS [g§wr§Eeeamndapbasg
BEep pbesiqlypisacolsqd (MCEF) $&
[g50888c8E08q  m§coodomgpizacats
(MLCA)03eil §20000 323,0E00884{gd o005
Bio8seamntonpd  [gpbeconeoogon  [g§en
§E&mn§oopdypist 005ge00dg vdesigEap:
320080 (UMFCCl)e pgogealgd  jooopsd

prise Singapore for Myanmar from 2004
till 2006.

¢ Joob9sbad omofureeonEgadadiaopd
Bgé  smeBuddsgnies:  m[pjeviconEd
(ABAC) ol pgagm[gd joop 956 ¢ joog
9503081 SeslCes0y Bieqrdqd (GMS-
BF)oi pgpgaalsd Jooy 988 ¢ Joog 956
3208 006:6e00E§Aa0pdn 3apoonBignieq;
$¢ cpgeqemloieueomtd  (NESAC) &
0PEO06E:6q 80qsE 08BOEEEYP: & B
oBsonodeeg UN-ESCAP oBei ajojeuseontd
038 2080€00dB:[gBopd: 023080p3l005N

B:B86:eo(e) sopguss (Serge Pun) 205
opgRdlfodomeagsl 30300pggondSgd[G:
o6} apgaail qaSomsaqpiay: §EREay
qP2325050008:32013208[gB A0 2po05
Serge Pun and Associates Ltd. (SPA),
First Myanmar Investment (FMI), Yoma
Strategic Holdings (YSH) $& Memories
Group of Limited (Memories)o} dlo&
30500020000 SPA 0pgBqpsspde  (SPA
Group) & pggon6Bigbdloob

U THEIM WAI
Vice Chairman

Date of Appointment
Last Re-elected

: 8July 2013
: 29 September 2018

U Khin Maung Aye is a Vice Chairman of

SPA’s flagship FMI, one of the first public
companies in Myanmar, was estab-
lished in 1992. In 2006, Mr. Pun led YSH
to a successful listing on the mainboard
of the Singapore Stock Exchange (SGX).
FMI became the first company to be
listed on the new Yangon Stock Ex-
change on March 2016. On January
2018, the Memories Group, the Group's

tourism business successfully gained a

the Board of Directors of the Company.
He is the Chairman of New City Devel-
opment, which is one of the Principal
Shareholders of our Company. New City
Development is a Public Company that
listing on the SGX Catalist Board. is engaged in town planning and infra-
structure development, with the objec-
Mr. Pun is currently a member of the tive of improving the living standards of
World Economic Forum ASEAN Regional rural areas in Myanmar and relieving
Group, ASEAN Business Council, Asia Busi- the population pressure in the big cities
ness Council and a standing member of in Myanmar.
the Chinese People’s Political Consulta-
U Khin Maung Aye established Kaytu-
madi Co., Ltd in 1991 and is also the

Founder and Chairman of the Kaung

tive Conference of Dalian. Additionally,
he served as an Honorary Business Rep-

resentative of the International Enter-

opR 95903E FMI opgaBaa: cpeoont3Bs
0o8:ongaRoopd [g§er§EeaE vooeediond
600083600 FgPs3EapEBode [§653loo5
Jook 9sb0pE B:Bcoa0pd Yoma Strategic
Holdings o3 B:ee0n8onpbeconé3yff: saaddl
Holdings 00p5 0og 06022336 §§: (SGX)
eqpogad) e3nlgEgy qoopS8ESclap
Joob9sdi wodcoogé FMI 20pS Yangon
Stock Exchange egpogodogt 0oowsd:
ogE:o€opgaBlgdomnddlaopdn  jooo 950
a850§c00é Memories Group Sl
osognicpdeiadoonds  eoMgocons3os:
(SGX) @il Catalist Board o€ eam&jgEgn[gé
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0qE:083A0051

B:086:6000p5 wopL05§ozé World Eco-
nomic Forum ASEAN Regional Group,
ASEAN Business Council §<§ Asia Busi-
ness Council oel 33 08cnd8:(gb(Gs
Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of Dalian og€ sa[gonod:eag ofi
Joog 950 joobesd 3208 International
Enterprise Singapore & [g§e8E¢a3Eep
oH09:eent  BigseqpoddoniapudondSs
copbs [§6301005

Vice Chairman

Date of Appointment
Last Re-elected

U KHIN MAUNG AYE

: 8July 2013
: 9 September 2017

Myanmar Aung Group. He is also the
Chairman of the KMA Shipping Co., Ltd,
Citizen Business Insurance Public Limit-
ed, Myanmar Microfinance Bank Limit-
ed and Golden Myanmar Airlines Public
Company Limited (all of which are asso-
ciated with the Kaung Myanmar Aung
Group). He is also the Chairman of
Co-Operative Bank Limited and the
Chairman of the Central Cooperative
Society (CCS).

U Khin Maung Aye was elected as Chair-
man of the Myanmar Banks Association
at its 15th Annual General Meeting that

took place on 4 December 2015. He is

the Chairman of Myanmar Investors De-
velopment Association (MIDA), which
was established in 2014, the main ob-
jective of which is Bridging Myanmar to

the world.

He is a member of the Private Sector
Development Committee formed by the
President of the Republic of the Union
of Myanmar on 24 October 2016 by No-
tification No. 79/2016 of President’s Of-

fice.

He is also a member of Farmer’s Rights
Protection and Promotion of Framer’s

Interests Steering Committee.
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In additional to his expansive entrepre-
neurial duties, he is a well-known phi-
lanthropist. He accomplishes the hu-
manitarian work with a unigue passion

and innovation.

U Khin Maung Aye graduated with a
Bachelor of Science (Maths) Q2 degree
from the University of Yangon in 1985.

BroCownBemarongd  opead  dodommag,
goBeopgagorbifabdioopbs ogooph ogsda}
0pgBel qudumnsagpsed:  FEa3Copgpsade
00884gdaopd new City Development &l
pglgdoopdn New City Development
opgBaopd  [g8wfléel  eogrrondesco
e5ae0tmms: Bion0deoqssé [gSen
88¢el [ [Bqpiope cpBieeopoodglsmie
cgode[grodeoespapdgudqodlst [ [gdoo3s:
eqpR[glisC  moc[gdmpcemncdmasy  oopd
600056 p6cs:0B pdeeonoopd sagp:dE
0pgBod9gdoopdn

Pof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet is an Independ-

ent Director of the Company. He serves
as member of the Peace Commission,
Honorary Professor at the University of
British Columbia, in Vancouver, Canada,
Chairman of the UN Global Compact

Myanmar Network, Advisor to the Un-

BroBownBaemaiangd Kaytumadi Co., Ltd. o3
0REo95$603E opdSeccnE3Be Kaung Myan-
mar Aung 33596l 0op5e000EopsE pgagopd:
[g60loopdn apaopd Kaung Myanmar Aung
Group $& 00520052005 KM Shipping Co.,
Ltdi Citizen Business Insurance Public
Limited, Myanmar Microfinance Bank
Limited $& Golden Myanmar Airlines
Public Company Limited o3si pgageopds
[g6Cloopln  opoopd  Co-Operative  Bank
Limited & pgrgs€ ouBooedluowsacot:el
pgeoRd: [gdclaopdi BsefewrEaemaiongd
8alomco (G)qodi Joogpsdogt ogfsuonpd
[g§er§EomnaPgpizontal  (og)0366(gp0d
$600500p5 spc0gecgmopbiaacoigl 3200
S ge(gd egieomdontelgpoddqdloogd
g8 [450298:8:5|08 qopdediqlap:
$ [BoBsonodeqemaandiel pgrgropd: [gddl
20p

BroleenComronpd [gobeconteoogalg§er
§E¢eoh §Eeondoogone condeodeqiad:

2p) 8E&eondoogongsel  (Jg.00. Jook)
qo58dl 3288e[oP[gronsa0d5 qp/ jook (98

3.0p5:0008 0gc8mman @ [Bpodion0deq
Bie000E328 &l 32§,08c0pds [gbcloogb

Brofewnoemianps gpigoiageoon g&8:
Bogl[gE:adCepadgqpicpbadEiomem  op
20p5 pBgpzaopd vgu3onapbesiesonigod
2p0ndBc0pSgboopdi opoopd cpoomaadiy
apOeSagpsad copondapanpd Bodaansconbond
g3 SopBheogeit BreposesntEE
638 680oEgoda0pdN

BroCeantemn: opegsdopt qSopSongradad
¢ 93933, (00gp) Q2 33 [3€ 6320E[gEFkaopdn

Date of Appointment
Last Re-appointed

Prof. Dr. AUNG TUN THET

Independent Director

: 1 November 2014
: 1September 2019

jon of Myanmar Federation of Com-
merce and Industries, Visiting professor
at Yangon University and Yangon Uni-
versity of Economics and National Con-
tact Point for the Organization for Eco-
nomic Co-operation and Development

(OECD) Responsible Business Conduct,

Chief Coordinator of Union Enterprise
for Humanitarian Assistance, Resettle-
ment and Development in Rakhine
(UEHRD), Member of Myanmar Invest-

ment Commission.

Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet holds a Bache-

lor of Commerce from Yangon Universi-
ty, a Post-Graduate Diploma in Man-
agement Studies from the University of
Brighton, M.Sc. in Operations Research
from the University of Warwick and a
Ph.D, in Management Sciences from
the University of Manchester and a
Post-doctoral Research Fellow from
University of Marburg. He was awarded
an Honorary Doctorate D.Litt. Degree
by the Yangon University of Economics
in 2015.

dewoy  edodom  esmlogdianodoopd
0pgBEl (odrdeomd§ndommdd: [¢8d
20pdi apoopd [Bdsqiéeqpeondoglel 203 08
0083:365[5E0pd:c0mEN mesASEE 0Sop:
omf],§ University of British Columbia o€

oahopieeont  dewogsaesfys  copbieomts
UN Global Compact Myanmar Network

U Tin Htut Oo is an Independent Direc-

tor of the Company. He was appointed
in November 2014. Currently he is the
Chairman of Agriculture Group of Yoma
Strategic Holdings Ltd., a public listed
Myanmar Company in Singapore and
CEO of Agribusiness and Rural Develop-

ment Consultants (ARDC) in Myanmar.

o3¢ ppcmes(gEaopSieomés [goSeomnEe
a4 GhorBBeonfoopbipish ocbgroosy
a9Scsiqlgpimandiqiéel  m[pjcosen(gd
copbieomta  qferoogpBcdsd  qfopd
Bsseqrongnadbodel  epSdlewnogondds
:es[goopbieomn Bsgreaipiedits eeond
a5q5¢ ¢ BpoBionodoqradep omo§ad
33, 300p5:0009[gdo0pd  Organization for
Economic Co-operation and Develop-
ment (OECD) =230€ National Contact
Point saesfgEoopbieomes qE[gpSscSeaogt:
cpooqlingng  20p3p3  Goo0SOGE
[g§copSesepgooneqs ¢ [Bpes:  8o035:
(UEHRD)og€ Chief Coordinator sagd
copbieoma  qE:8{g0$95¢  opgaByps
238opsqB:8:505038 30§ 080068s32(3d
c0pS:eomE: 00§ c0d:e800Ea05§Ao05

deeoy  edlobom  eamnlogfianndoopd
50§00 xBcde  Bign:a3 sicopSicomEs

University of Brighton ¢ 860§3¢a38epa3,
ag§8ocduzm: copbieomEs University of
Warwick ¢ 9a3¢eoma3, (Operations
Research) ss copbieoma University of
Manchester ¢ dlqpa3, (Management
Sciences) sascopdieomEan University of
Marburg ¢ Post-doctoral Research Fellow
oo qffddioodn opaopd qgopdigoreq
oogpafeSy Glgfaoph erhopieendagap,
(D.Litt. Degree) o3copS: joog 95638
q§3Slo0p5

Date of Appointment
Last Re-appointed

U TIN HTUT OO

Independent Director

: 1 November 2014
: 1September 2019

He is Chairing the Board of the Center
for Economic and Social Development
(CESD) and also an Advisor to Union of
Myanmar Chamber of Commerce and
Industry (UMFCCI) and Myanmar Rice

Federation.

He holds a Bachelor of Agriculture de-

gree (B. Ag) from the Institute of Agri-
culture, University of Mandalay (1971)
Myanmar and M.Sc (Agricultural Eco-
nomics) from Ohio State University
(1985) USA. He was a Visiting Research
Fellow at the Institute of Developing

Economics, Tokyo, Japan in 1994-1995.



From 2001 to 2009, he was the Direc-
tor-General of the Department of Agri-
cultural Planning, Ministry of Agricul-
ture and Irrigation and before that held
various posts in the same Ministry since
1974. He retired from the Civil Service
in 2009. U Tin Htut Oo served as the
Chairman of the National Economic and
Social Advisory Council (NESAC), and
Economic Advisor to the President, the
Republic of the Union of Myanmar

(2012-2016).

In his capacity with the UN and interna-
tional organizations, he served as Sen-
jior Advisor to the Executive Secretary,
UNESCAP from 2009-2011. U Tin Htut
0o has been awarded 5™ Dioscoro L.
Umali Achievement Award in Agricul-
tural Development in 2015 which rec-
ognizes exemplary individuals who have
advanced agricultural development in

Southeast Asia.
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U Aung Nyunt is an Independent Direc-

tor of the Company. He was appointed
in October 2016. From 1966 to 2007,
nearly (41) years of services at Myan-
mar Timber Enterprise — Finance/Ac-
count Department, Planning Depart-
ment and retired as a General Manager
(Planning). As an attached duty in 1991,
he served as a Director (Finance) for
two years at National Industrial Holding
Company Limited (NIHL) (Public Com-
pany). From 1995 to 1996, he was a
part time Director of Myanmar Forest
Products Joint Venture Company Limit-
ed (Forest J.V), Myanmar Korea Timber
International Company Ltd (MKTI), My-
anmar Seal Company Limited (M.S.L)
and International Business Centre
(1.B.C) Co Ltd. Starting from 2008 to
2013, he was an Independent Auditor
for the Union of Myanmar Federation of
Chambers of Commerce and Industry
(UMFCCI), Myanmar Engineering Socie-
ty (MES), NGO-Japan Seeds Asia Pro-
ject, Trustee Board of Pyi Shwe San Taw
Pagoda and International Business Cen-
tre Company Limited (I.B.C) under the

name of Aung Nyunt and Associates

U AUNG NYUNT

Date of Appointment
Last Re-appointed

Independent Director

: 23 October 2016
: 1 September 2019

(Auditors). During his service at the
Ministry, he has joined and attended
various Financial Management Semi-
nars in (9) different countries. He at-
tended the Audit Committee Master
Programme in April 2018 jointly spon-
sored by International Finance Corpora-
tion and Myanmar Institute of Direc-
tors. He was born in 1944 and studied
at Myoma National High School. He
graduated with B.Com (Accounting) in
1964 and Registered Accountant (Full-

fledge) (now CPA) in 1965 respectively.
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U Tun Lwin is a Director of the Company.

He has been the Chairman of MAGDPL

since 2012, which is one of the biggest
shareholders of our Company. MAGDPL
is a public company, and is currently de-
veloping container and general cargo
handling International Terminal at plot
number 29 of the Thilawa Port Area,

among other business operations.

He is the director of MAPCO and he is
also the Director of Myanmar Citizens
Bank Limited. He is serving as the Vice
Chairman of National Resources Devel-

opment Company Limited too.

He is presently the Managing Director
of Shwe Me Group of Companies. Shwe
Me Group of Companies has been listed
as 3@ to 49" highest taxpayer in the
country for the Income Tax and Com-
mercial Tax Categories from Financial
year 2010-2011 to 2017-2018. And, on
2014, it has been awarded the
prestigious  “President’s  Excellence
Award for Tax and Revenue Duty”. He is
the Chairman of SCG — Shwe Me Logis-
tics (Myanmar) Co., Ltd., Director of Be-
tagro (Myanmar) Co., Ltd. and | C P

U TUN LWIN

Date of Appointment
Last Re-elected

Non-Executive Director

: 8July 2013
: 29 September 2018

Shwe Me Fertilizer Co., Ltd.

He is currently serving as the Chairman
of Myanmar Pulses, Beans and Sesame
Seeds Merchants Association, the Exec-
utive Committee Member of UMFCCI
and the Treasurer of Myanmar-Japan

Association.

The companies he is associating are cur-
rently exporting agricultural products,
importing construction materials and
general cargo, providing logistics servic-
es, developing terminal at Thilawa port
area, growing teak plantations and in-

volving in other business sectors too.

He attended the Audit Committee Mas-
ter Programme in April 2018 jointly
sponsored by International Finance
Corporation and Myanmar Institute of

Directors.
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Dr. Nyan Thit Hlaing is a Director of My-

anmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public
Company Limited. He is one of Director
in Myanmar Japan Thilawa Develop-
ment Limited (MJTD) and Thilawa Prop-
erty Development Limited (TPD) as well.
He is currently Managing Director of the
National Development Company Group
Limited (NDCG), which is one of the
Principal Shareholders of our Company.
NDCG is a Public Company engaged pri-
marily in the business of construction,
trading and general services. He is a Di-
rector of Proven Technology Industrial
Co., Ltd. (TOYO Battery). He is also a Di-
rector of Small & Medium Development
Bank (SME Development Bank) which is
established to provide financial assis-
tance to small and medium enterprises

(SME) in the country. He is Joint Secre-
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Date of Appointment
Last Re-elected

Dr. NYAN THIT HLAING
Non-Executive Director

: 2 August 2013
: 29 September 2018

tary of Myanmar Construction Entre-
preneur Association. Dr. Nyan Thit Hlaing
graduated with a Bachelor of Medicine
from the University of Medicine (1) Yan-

gon in 1995.
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U MYINT ZAW
Executive Director

U TIN MAUNG HLAING

Non-Executive Director

Date of Appointment
Last Re-elected

: 29 September 2018
: Not Applicable

Date of Appointment
Last Re-elected

: 2 August 2013
: 1September 2019

U Tin Maung Hlaing is a Director of the

Company. He is Executive Director of
MAPCO, which is one of the founding
shareholders of our Company. MAPCO
is a Public Company formed to mobilize
public savings and to foster broader in-
vestment in agriculture and agro-based

industries of Myanmar.

He served as an Executive Director in
the Myanmar Automobile Development
Public Company Limited that manufac-
tures and distributes of motor vehicles.
He has also been working as a Manag-
ing Director in Evergreen Autos Co., Ltd
since the founding of the company. He
is also involved with Myanmar National
Telecom Holdings Public Ltd., a compa-
ny that focuses on development of tele-

communication sectors in Myanmar.

U Tin Maung Hlaing is also actively in-
volved in Myanmar Japan Association as
Central Executive Committee member.
He graduated with a Bachelor of Sci-
ence in Physics from the Yangon Univer-
sity in 1988. He attended the Audit
Committee Master Programme in April
2018 jointly sponsored by International
Finance Corporation and Myanmar In-
stitute of Directors. He is fluent in the

Japanese language.
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U Myint Zaw is the Sales and Marketing
Director of the Myanmar Thilawa SEZ
Holdings Public Co. Ltd (MTSH) and also
Admin and HR Officer & General Man-
ager of Myanmar Japan Thilawa Devel-
opment Limited (MJTD). He joined the
company since founded in 2013. U My-

int Zaw has over 20 years of experience
in the sales and marketing & trading of
commodity like agriculture products
and palm oil, manufacturing of automo-
tive spare parts, hospitality and servic-
es, construction and property develop-
ment industry. He is a trading and
investment veteran with background in
the development of rental factory, con-
dominium project, hotel and auto parts
manufacturing. His primary responsibil-
ity at the moment is the new business
development and sales and marketing
at MTSH. He is also responsible to set
up the new standard operation proce-
dure (SOP), new company rules and
procurement policy together with Ad-
min and HR department matter and
general affairs at MJTD. He is the coordi-
nator between Japanese and Myanmar
Officers, Shareholders, Directors and
also between MJTD and TSMC (Thilawa
SEZ Management Committee). U Myint
Zaw obtained with a Bachelor of Sci-
ence (Chemistry) degree from Yangon
University, Master of Business Adminis-
tration (MBA) from University of Thai

Chamber of Commerce, Diploma of
Business Law (DBL) from Yangon Uni-
versity and Myanmar Directorship Certi-
fication which is a first Director course
in Myanmar designed by Myanmar In-
stitute of Director Certification Program
(MloD) and Singapore Management
University (SMU).
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U Thurane Aung is the Project Director

of our Company and Vice President of
Myanmar Japan Thilawa Development
Limited (MJTD). His diversify experienc-
es came from more than 17 years of
service in Dagon Group, which is one of
the leading conglomerates in Myanmar
with diversified businesses in sectors
that include property development and
construction, hospitality, timber, agri-
culture, commodity trading, plantation,
retail and distribution, petroleum, auto-

mobile and food processing.

During his position as CEO of Dagon
Group, he successfully negotiated and
implemented many new joint ventures
and new businesses with multinationals
corporations. Drawing from these expe-
riences U Thurane Aung carried out the
feasibility study and negotiated for the
joint venture between MTSH and Japa-
nese Consortium to form MJTD from
the beginning of MTSH. His experience
in property development in Dagon
Group equip him with greater under-
standing of project management and
project implementation which was put
to use by MTSH when our subsidiary

Thilawa Property Development Limited

Date of Appointment
Last Re-elected

U THURANE AUNG

Executive Director

: 1September 2019
: Not Applicable

was formed.

His primary responsibility in MTSH is to
coordinate among the stakeholders for
the smooth running of existing business
as well as develop new opportunities
and investment within Thilawa SEZ and

beyond.

He also contribute much of his time for
the development of the different busi-
ness sectors he is in by joining the Exec-
utive Committee Member of Myanmar
Construction Entrepreneur Association
(MCEA), Vice-President of Yangon Re-
gion Young Entrepreneur Association
(YRYEA). He holds a Bachelor of Arts
(Honors) in Business Information Man-
agement & Finance, which he obtained
from the University of Westminster,

United Kingdom in 2004.
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U Min Qo is a Director of the Company.

He is the Board member of Myanmar
Technologies and Investment Corpora-
tion Public Company Limited (MTI),
which is one of the founding sharehold-
ers of MTSH. He is the Vice President of
Myanmar Computer Professionals As-
sociation and Myanmar Business Execu-
tives Association. He also serves as the
Executive Committee member of Myan-
mar Computer Federation. He graduat-
ed with a Master of Computer Science
from Yangon Computer University in
1999 and achieved Master of Business

Administration from Yangon Institute of
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U MIN OO

Non-Executive Director

Date of Appointment
Last Re-elected

: 1September 2019
: Not Applicable

Economic in 2005. He holds Post Gradu-
ate Diploma in Law, Diploma in Political
Science and enhanced Diplomatic Skill

from Ministry of Foreign Affairs.
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Myanmar Technologies and Develop-
ment Public Company Limited (MTI) &
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Daw Aye Aye Aung is a Director of the

Company. She is the Managing Director
of Asia Mega Link Co., Ltd. She is the Di-
rector of Asia Mega Link Services Co.,
Ltd and Yatanarpon Teleport Public Co.,
Ltd as well. She is also a Central Executive
Committee Member of Yangon Interna-
tional Airport Information Technology
Communication Center and the Direc-
tor of Myanmar Agro Exchange Public
Limited (MAEX). She graduated with a
B.E (Electronic) and also a Professional
Engineer (P.E) recognized by the Myan-
mar Engineering Council. She was

awarded the ASEAN Engineer Certifi-

Date of Appointment
Last Re-elected

DAW AYE AYE AUNG

Non-Executive Director

1 September 2019
: Not Applicable

cate of AFEO Governing Board in 2014
by Brunei. She achieved the Master of
Business Administration from Yangon In-

stitute of Economic in 2002.
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KEY MANAGEMENT

U Kyaw Zaw Wai is the Chief Executive
Officer of Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Hold-
ings Public Co.,Ltd (MTSH) and its sub-

sidiary company, Thilawa Property De-
velopment Limited (TPD) since January
2019.

U Kyaw Zaw Wai has extensive financial
and operational management experi-
ence in leading Global and Americas
Real Estate Organizations, more than 27
years of international professional ex-
periences in Americas and Asia includ-
ing Canada, United States of America,
Thailand, Singapore, Japan, and Myan-
mar with numerous senior manage-
ment positions such as Country Leader,
Vice President Asset Management, Alli-
ance Director, Director Finance and Ac-
counting, Director Planning & Analysis
in leading real estate organizations. Be-
fore joining MTSH, he worked for the
World's Largest Commercial Real Estate
Firm CBRE, Toronto in Canada from
2006 to 2018, held different manage-
ment positions such as Director, Coun-
try Leader. In MTSH, he takes a leading

role in the sectors of strategic planning,

U KYAW ZAW WAI
Chief Executive Officer

development, asset management, and
financial management. He is a founding
member and Director at the Canada

Myanmar Business Council.

U Kyaw Zaw Wai holds Bachelor of Com-
merce from Yangon Institute of Eco-
nomics, Master of Business Administra-
tion from Asian Institute of Technology
in Thailand and Post-MBA in Advanced
Management Program from York Uni-

versity in Canada.
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U Myo Myint Aung is the Head of Fi-
nance of Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Hold-

ings Public Company Limited and con-
currently the Chief Financial Officer of
Myanmar Japan Thilawa Development
Limited.

U Myo Myint Aung has over 10 years of
experience in planning and budgetary
control, financial and management re-
porting, performance management,
cash management, financial and busi-
ness analysis, investment analysis and
internal controls.

He worked as a Management Account-

ant for Pun Hlaing Siloam Hospital (for-

MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC CO.,LTD

U MYINT ZAW

Sales & Marketing Director

The profile of U Myint Zaw is on page no (21). Please refer to

the Page for the detail.
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U THURANE AUNG

Project Director

The profile of U Thurane Aung is on page no (22). Please refer

to the Page for the detail.
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U MYO MYINT AUNG

Head of Finance

merly Pun Hlaing International Hospital)
from 2005 to 2007. During 2007 to
2017, he worked in Singapore for chem-
ical segment of NOK Corporation (a
company listed on Tokyo Stock Ex-
change), and his last position with them

is Finance Manager.

U Myo Myint Aung holds Bachelor of
Science degree with first class honors in
applied accounting from Oxford Brookes
University. He is also a member of Insti-
tute of Singapore Chartered Account-
ants (ISCA) and a fellow member of As-
sociation of Chartered Certified Accoun
tant (ACCA).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Mission

1,

To realize the achievement of corporate sustainability through governance based
upon the principles of transparency, accountability, responsibility, independence
and fairness.

To realize the empowerment of the function and independence of each corporate
body: the general shareholder’s meeting, the Board of Directors and the executive
management.

To realize a condition in which all corporate bodies make their decisions and
implement them on the basis of high moral values and adherence to existing

laws and regulations.
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Corporate Governance Goals

1.

To improve our Company’s performance through the creation of decision-making
processes, improving operational efficiency and improving services to
stakeholders.

To improve corporate value by improving financial performance and minimizing
investment decision risks that contains conflicts of interest.

To improve investor trust.

To achieve stakeholder satisfaction resulting from corporate values and company
dividends.
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE ROADMAP

& IMPLEMENTATION

As Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public
Limited (MTSH) is a publicly Listed Com-
pany, it is committed to build good corpo-
rate governance on the foundations of
accountability, fairness and transparency.
To be a sustainable and responsible busi-
ness, MTSH has made a great effort to
promote the long-term benefits for share-
holders and have public trust by shaping
up well in our management and perfor-
mance of our company. Accordingly, the
board of directors and key management
set standard of operating procedure (SOP)
and the norms of integrity and ethical be-
havior, which will be applied in the re-
spective tasks of employees and officers.
In addition, the Board of Directors has full
responsibility to serve as a prudent fiduci-
ary for shareholders through the best

practice in good corporate governance.

In Annual General meeting, the share-
holders elect and designate the Board
members year on year with the aim of
overseeing their interest in the long-term
success of the business. Afterward, the
Board serves as the ultimate deci-
sion-making body of the Company, with
the exception of the matters that is con-
cerned with Shareholders' decision. The
Board chooses the most suitable mem-

erate and implement business plans.ac-

bers of senior managemenl: who will op-
cording to the Board of Directors'

guidelines.

The Board of Directors has established
Corporate Governance Guidelines which

provide a framework for the effective gov-
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ernance of the Company. The guidelines
address matters such as the Board’s mis-
sion, Director responsibilities, Director
qualifications, Board Committee struc-
ture, Managing Director performance

evaluation and management succession.

As one more significant step towards a
sustainable and responsible business,
MTSH has entered into the United Na-
tions Global Compact and has become
one of the members of it since June,
2015. Since then, MTSH has complied
with ten principles in the four main areas
of Human Rights, Labor Rights, Environ-
mental Rights and Anti-Corruption guided
by the United Nations Global Compact
(UNGC), and then those principles are
well integrated into our business strategy,
culture and daily operations. In line with
our aim, “to deliver a long-term and sus-
tainable benefit to all shareholders, em-
ployees and community”, the Board fre-
quently reviews and updates the related
guidelines in order to achieve strong cor-

porate governance of the Company.

Our self-assessed corporate score using
ASEAN Corporate Governance Scorecard
for FY2018-19 is 60%. We have bench-
marked our score against average score of
listed companies, private and public com-
panies and ASEAN average available from
an assessment jointly published by Inter-
national Finance Corporation (IFC), Secu-
rities and Exchange Commission of Myan-
mar (SECM) Directorate of Investment
and Company Administration (DICA) and
Yangon Stock Exchange (YSX). Even though
our score fare better than Myanmar aver-
age, we acknowledge there are potentials
to improve our corporate governance

practices to catch up with ASEAN average.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE CNC)

REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE CRC)
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Chairman - Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet
(Independent Director)
Members - U Tun Lwin, U Thurane Aung

(Project Director)
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Chairman - U Tin Htut Oo
(Independent Director)
Members - Dr. Nyan Thit Hlaing,
Daw Aye Aye Aung (Director)
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purpose of the
Committee is to assist the Board in
ensuring that it maintains the
appropriate balance of skills, knowledge
and diversity to support the Company’s
strategic objectives, and that a clear
and transparent appointment process
for directors is in place. The principal
responsibilities of the Committee are

to:

(A) Review the size, structure and

R composition of the Board, including the
anaB0d
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skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity of Board members, and make

Joop 3005 (Bo%)qadkopdt eeomgeSax recommendations accordingly;
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merit and against objective criteria;
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consultation with the chairmen of those

committees; and

(D) Develop and periodically review, any

objectives  established  for  the
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implementation of diversity on the
Board and monitor progress toward the

achievements of those objectives.
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The Remuneration Committee supports
the Board of Directors in establishing
and periodically reviewing MTSH’s com-
pensation strategy, guidelines and per-
formance criteria as well as preparing
the proposals to the General Meeting
regarding the compensation of the
members of the Board of Directors and

of Key Management personnel.

The Remuneration Committee consists
of the Chairman (an Independent Direc-
tor of the Board) and a minimum of 2
other members. The Remuneration
Committee currently consists of 3 mem-

bers.

The success of MTSH is dependent on
its ability to attract, retain and incentiv-
ize the right talented employees. MTSH
employee remunera-tion comprises of
fixed and variable components, with
the variable components directly corre-
lated with Key Performance Indicators
aligned with the Company’s Business

Plan.
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MANAGEMENT & BUSINESS
DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE (MBDC)

605003pgre32[gd (@odbEEaNA0302068:5E 325p5:00:308 08 ( J)Bs Aepd ec(ogieg
6050080005 orh§opEme8, 08(p)BHg¢ §.0p5:00msclapd

656p32§3|gPieagGr0qEopgps 0pIgEqpiam: GomEigSqionaopd saofdongiypicusy spog
o§m06000gEselopt mgBeicamEgqod §EwameomEicociongli o§codigpiel coondens

Chairman - U Myint Zaw P®S - Bdgbecd

§8qpiodcobs deoodenigémlgE 0odB:qEBal gbieernlapdst opgaBel BieqpmaBandgp: (Executive Director) (3296800E3§0500)

:6d] 360783200p566588qqpied] 902056 308 aERE:qp: 902:8E§ BoSoon:§iloogSn Members - Thurane Aung, GodecBed 08qp: - B:opd§easnd iulidn
U Min Oo, cdleaneanieamnt
Daw Aye Aye Aung

The Management & Business Develop-

ment Committee (MBDC) currently con-

Management & Business Development

Committee o Bifg€ecde pargealyd

AUDIT, RISK & COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE (ARCC)

sists of 4 members and U Myint Zaw has om0o§0peeogodom 358,08 (p)Bt 3,005

been acting as the Chairman of this co:Cloopd
;. ~1. 1 ~1 g | Committee.
Chairman - U Aung Nyunt RS - BieanEpps . —~ ~—1 :-” T i B | _ it T eodeodoopd mgadeivongumelgpadean
(Independent Director) (agoScubean Fi§oSom) . G -!‘_‘Ifl'[.:'l‘fl ' This Committee has senior manage- 86038:qproqeadfgn ooameqrss Bipeqy
Members - U Tin Maung Hlaing, eobecBolyp: - Bionfeentadéi : - L ment oversight of the planning and 2[g€ 326[gdm0ca005335000cEiqpiz0305
U Min Oo BroCsBs strategy, financial and business, and in-  86083¢1 saeomEaacopdesdqqpiod 0208

frastructure operations of the Company. 0p 68008godag 05§ dloodi
The Audit, Risk and Compliance Com- ogtiod  90:4:88a[gBGo83gsE  0pbiont:

mittee consists of the Chairman (an In- Bobsog coduodopl =:308()8: dofusd ' e i
dependent Director of the Board) and a 488 cgodcubeomdl§odom 6Bk .
minimum of 2 other members. The 605e03pggsalgd  0mo§opepdlgddlaopde —

ARCC currently consists of 3 members. 0cd§og€  eondeods: 23 .08 (p)gs —L

Future more, the committee shall seek RB:[gé eor50cB0pS cpgadel eqged
and evaluate for new business develop- o3s00056qem0R05  Bsgeesd [ 0300059

\

H
B el

AR
A%

e
AR

ment opportunities and propose to the BEep 3agCancodizondypidepegenonmom

Board of Directors for investment deci- qC:84g058q 93:godqEdgpis:  cgaBel

At least one member has to have recent opbiconidlasphn ooaeesgEadodedtaond sion for long term growth of the Company. AoS0m303 08ypiod 3:adigogeiepdgBoopd

T

and relevant financial expertise; the c0bcSiopibioqEan 32505:60:0088: 605603 + - = _JJ"
others must be familiar with the issues g€ AgBe oxSopqpier ©2qE:03E! egCiod : : = "’ : c - ﬁ-’r‘my’ In this committee, the members con- MTSH of Sxpraqopbofimaoobapist 86c36:
of accounting and audit. In discharging 03gqpi0p8 =e03,32(0g§opqp: [§8laopS ) = — = t : m‘fﬁ‘j{i 'ﬂlj ::i! tribute with the best of their local & in- 2208qpn p&efigp:adep 86053903990
its responsibilities, it has unrestricted — T — = : ~ ‘ . ﬁﬂ:{:l'lgl:jﬂ 51!?# - F._. ‘ ternational knowledge and experiences 8 605ecB038  dlofeommag ofqpse
access to the Company’s management, oqtiod  90:4p88a[gBoos3gsE  0pbionts — ._ : T ] 1;;‘%!' s ,g _:. -. to guide and direct the activities of sooogfisl BeconommBonpst w60
books and records. The ARCC supports  cjobgog eorbocdool omofeaq opgadel  — L —1" ——1" =T 7% M;Ei?’-—""ggm MTSH as well as ensuring the effective  salpjqpied&ndom oBespoSeancabionsy
the Board of Directors in its supervision 8036qI60pqpisé  onglimomn 90506 HFrE —=1= . - :_g;ﬂ = ~ = management and new business activi- PHEE ceonbgaSaqosidangSs
of financial controls through a direct ©0depyp20? 322620088068 Eopd[gdalaopd . " s — e —1 — —— W . fies and projects.
link to Win Thin & Associates (external [g€o orqEiode ooqtodosodatind eaontgnd — - _._ - i s —+ = ﬁ
auditors) and the internal audit depart- RE d§oSommmd, B8ompbq bopgpisé 1 — L= [ F.._ 1B Tﬂq‘ﬂ —
ment. 3208006806 BajoPp: orgEiodenrbedy = —ajee f - : : E{ i::_[ =
@:e0lEs68008g05epd[gbdloogln  0oqEs0d i _F == == :_ - : CER= -
The ARCC regularly reports to the Board codudmeslgé  ooqf:obesoieay §qi0d £k -___b - = ;‘1 _'_'f
on its findings and proposes appropri- qrisé 603 §qodmeedl adro0be(0y(gig)ed == =0 e:f — = '::T"';.
ate actions. The responsibility for ap- qPio3 08e00Se[god d§0Somm3.98 o€y ;—* ':'_":'___:F —e] - 2SS0 o
proving the Annual and Semi-Annual cosagjo’ §dloopdi a3epog€ ooaroeqeg 006 ﬂ-ﬂh‘“flr]' .
Financial Statements remains with the $600500006qeqE:006:0303 dA§0d0m33 ¢ g
Board of Directors. r[g05e808g056pSgddlaopdi W e —
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN SHARE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS, SENIOR
ot 1212019 218 1252020, e ot Orectors b s o ooy xcetof o st et MANAGEMENT AND COMPLIANCE OFFICER REMUNERATION

Holdings Registered in name Holdings in which Director is Board of Directors, Executive Directors, Senior Management and Compliance Officer Remuneration
of Director as at deemed to have an interest as at Kyat in Million
In capacity as In capacity as Total
BOARD OF DIRECTORS management Honorarium director 2019  remuneration
12.7.2019 12.5.2020 12.7.2019 12.5.2020 Sa|ary Proposed Bonus in all Capacity
1 U Win Aung Chairman - MTSH, MJTD & TPD NED - 7.22 7.22
. 2 U Khin Maung Aye Vice Chairman - MTSH & TPD NED - 6.50 6.50
U Win Aung 256,340 256,340 2,029,046 2,029,046 3 U Theim Wai Vice Chairman - MTSH & TPD NED - 6.50 6.50
4 Dr. Aung Tun Thet Independent Director - MTSH NED - 12.00 5.78 17.78
U Theim Wai - - 643,503 643,503 5 U Tin Htut Oo Independent Director - MTSH NED - 12.00 5.78 17.78
6 U Aung Nyunt Independent Director - MTSH NED - 12.00 5.78 17.78
U Khin Maung Aye - - 1,900,000 1,900,000 7 U Tun Lwin Director - MTSH & TPD NED - 6.50 6.50
8 Dr. Nyan Thit Hlaing Director - MTSH, MJTD & TPD NED - 5.78 5.78
Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet - - - - 9 U Tin Maung Hlaing Director - MTSH & TPD NED - 5.78 5.78
10 U Myint Zaw Director - MTSH, MJTD & TPD ED - 5.78 5.78
U Tin Htut Oo _ _ _ _ 11 U Thurane Aung Director - MTSH, MJTD & TPD ED - 5.78 5.78
12 U Min Oo Director - MTSH & TPD NED - 5.78 5.78
U Aung Nyunt ) ) ) ) 13 Daw Aye Aye Aung Director - MTSH, MJTD & TPD NED 5.78 5.78
SUBTOTAL 36.00 78.74 114.74
U Tun Lwin 523,850 523,850 1,921,010 1,921,010
Executive Directors for Management Role Salary Honorarium Bonus Total
Dr. Nyan Thit Hlalng _ _ 1,4091994 1,179,622 1u Myint Zaw Sales & Markeu’ng Director - MTSH & 70.72 70.72
TPD, Admin & HR of MJTD (April 2019 -
U Tin Maung Hlaing - - 1,948,640 1,948,640 September 2019)
Sales & Marketing Director - MTSH & 154.77 154.77
. TPD, Admin & HR of MJTD
U Myint Zaw 11,210 11,210 ) 1,900,000 Retrospective Payment (December
2016 - March 2019)
U Thurane Aung 493,540 493,540 143,150 143,150 2 U Thurane Aung VP - MUTD, Project Director - MTSH & 38.45 38.45
TPD (April 2019- September 2019)
U Min Oo - - 1,639,840 1,592,101 SUBTOTAL 263.94 0.00 263.94
Daw Aye Aye Aung - - 760,215 1,513,583
Senior Management
1 U Kyaw Zaw Wai CEO - MTSH & TPD (April 2019 - 162.87
September 2019) ) 162.87
As of (12.7.2019 and 12.5.2020), none of our Executive Officer hold Shares in our Company 2 U Myo Myint Aung Head of Finance - MTSH. CFO - MJTD
. ’ 54.16 54.16
(April 2019 - September 2019)
except of as set out below:
SUBTOTAL 217.03 0.00 217.03
Holdings Registered in name Holdings in which Executive Officer is Compliance Officer
of Executive Officer as at deemed to have an interest as at 1 U WinThinn Compliance Officer (April 2019 - 6.00 6.00
September 2019)
SUBTOTAL 6.00 6.00
12.7.2019 12.5.2020 12.7.2019 12.5.2020 GRAND TOTAL 486.97 36.00 78.74 601.71
U Myo Myint Aung ) ) ) ) Legend:
VP - Vice-President, NED - Non-Executive Director, ED - Executive Director, CEO - Chief Executive Officer, CFO - Chief Financial Officer



BOARD MEETINGS

QOur Board and Board Committees have held the meetings to assess and evaluate Company’s business performance,

DIVIDEND

key activities and strategic policies. The company has held the meetings in 1st April 2019 to 30th September 2019 are as follows:

A final dividend of the par value per
share or (Ks 200) for every share has
been proposed as per a resolution
made at the Board of Directors’ meet-
ing of the company held on 25th April
2020. The proposed dividend shall be
paid from the company unrestricted re-
tained profits to the shareholders who
are share holders at record date as of 12
May 2020.
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Audit, Risk and
Compliance
Committee Meeting

Management & Business
Development
Committee Meeting

MTSH BOD
Meeting

Remuneration
Committee Meeting
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TIMELY &
CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE

We are in compliance with YSX’s Disclo-
sure Outline and Requirements which
were set up to build public confidence
in the fairness and soundness of the
Stock Trading and our best efforts have
been put in disclosing our company cor-
porate information to the public and
investors for them to make informed
investment decisions without delay.
Our company’s corporate information is
promptly disclosed on YSX's website
and our company’s website. Our Com-
pany’s financial statements and annual
reports can be accessed on both web-
sites mentioned above. We have made
the following statutory and voluntary
disclosures at YSX from 30" August
2018 to 30" June 20109.
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Disclosed Matter

Invitation of 6th Annual General Meeting

Annual Report (FY 2018 -2019)

Resolutions passed at the 6th Annual General Meeting held on 1st
September 2019

Change of Registered Address

Notice of Financial Results for Financial Year 2019

Management Discussion and Analysis

MTSH awarded as Preferred Developer for mixed -use Gyogone
Redevelopment Project

Notice of proposed dividend

oS0 m:y, mopdmeoicd  (0)36 eobedd (G)g00RE  ©rqE:0bid:gEsCalgfiast  0pbinb:cBods0g  eorbucBe  3aopbisacos( ))o3d!
Mocjoyegenbuode mopiaeo: (0)0385E Management and Business Development conSecBe saopSimacos (o) [0368 oq€:08E3dkaopSn Date
Audit, Risk & Nomination | Remuneration Management & Annual
) Board Compliance ) ) Business 2nd Aug. 2019
Director ) ) Committee Committee General
Meeting Committee Meetin Meetin Development Meetin
Meeting & & Committee &
U Win Aung 8 N.A N.A N.A N.A 1 2nd Aug. 2019
U Theim Wai 4 N.A N.A N.A N.A 1
U Khin Maung Aye - N.A N.A N.A N.A - 2nd Sep. 2019
Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet 7 - - - N.A 1
U Tin Htut Oo 7 N.A - 1 N.A 1
10th Oct. 2019
U Aung Nyunt 8 2 N.A N.A N.A 1
U Tun Lwin 8 N.A - N.A N.A 1
Dr. Nyan Thit Hlaing 7 N.A N.A 1 N.A 1 30th Dec. 2019
U Tin Maung Hlaing 8 N.A N.A N.A N.A 1
U Myint Zaw 8 N.A N.A N.A 1 1
U Thein Han (member 30th Dec. 2019
) 2 N.A N.A N.A N.A 1
until 1 Sep 2019)
U Aung Soe Tha (member
8 2 N.A N.A N.A 1 5th Mar. 2020
until 1 Sep 2019)
U Thurane Aung (member
. 1 N.A N.A N.A 1 1
since 1 Sep 2019) 27th Apr. 2020
Mi i 1
U Min Oo (member since 1 NA . NA 1 1
Sep 2019)
Daw Aye Aye Aung 1 NA NA NA 1 1
(member since 1 Sep 2019) ' ' ’




HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR

™

WELCOME CEREMONY
OF
STATE COUNSELLOR H.E DAW AUNG SAN SUU KYI

= 4 State Counsellor's Visit to

Thilawa Special Economic Zone

On August 21, 2019, the State Counsel-
lor H.E Daw Aung San Suu Kyi along with
Union Ministers U Kyaw Tint Swe, U Min
Thu, U Thaung Tun, Yangon Region Chief
Minister U Phyo Min Thein and govern-

ment officials visited Thilawa SEZ.

The State Counselor was welcomed to
the meeting hall of Myanmar Japan
Thilawa Development Limited. Chair-
man of the Thilawa SEZ Management
Committee U Set Aung, Japanese Am-
bassador to Myanmar H.E Mr. Ichiro
Maruyama, Chairman of MTSH, MJTD
and TPD U Win Aung, President and
CEO of Myanmar Japan Thilawa Devel-
opment Limited Mr. Tomoyasu Shimizu
later explained the development and
activities related to the Thilawa SEZ to

Her Excellency.

The State Counsellor acknowledged

that she was very pleased with the pro-
gress of Thilawa SEZ, went on a tour to
the operations in Zone A and concluded

the visit.
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2535005(0%: Mr. Ichiro Maruyamar Myan-
mar Japan Thilawa Development Limit-
ed & Chairman B:o€:esxnEsé Myanmar

Japan Thilawa Development Limited &l

President and CEO Mr. Tomoyasu Shimizu
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Property Guru Real Estate Personality

of the year 2019

REAL ESTATE PERSONALITY

Myanmar Property Awards 2019 organ-

ized by Property Guru Myanmar was
held on 23 November, 2019 at the Sule
Shangrila Hotel in Yangon and the Chair-
man of MTSH, U Win Aung, was awarded
Real Estate Personality of the year.

The award was given for his effort in na-
tional economic growth, investment
and job opportunities alongside with
the development of Thilawa Special

Economic Zone.

Property Guru is an organization evalu-
ating real estate industry in 14 countries
including Myanmar and awarding out-

$a: - -UWINAUNG
" GHAIRMAN, MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS

standing property development and in-
dividual.

Board of Directors, CEO and Head of Fi-
nance of MTSH attended the event as well.

Property Guru Myanmar ¢[gcp6aopd
2019
320853252107 J0op9sdI GaIcdhBoma o
qobes 95R4f), sprecogodroddioncden
oEaolgpd3ep 00Bsbomm0905 F2E0mEed:
Befelgorp opeficdopgheca? [ghersBaod
205(8)5Bsacd Bal: 0obonwd Fogpisd
2005a3E62000pgB880005 - MTSH peng
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Myanmar Property Awards
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Myanmar Property Awards 2019
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Myanmar Global Investment Forum
2019 hosted by Euromoney Conferenc-
es on September 10 and 11, held at
Myanmar International Convention
Center- 2 (MICC- 2) in Nay Pyi Taw.

Financial institutions, investors and ac-
counting associations attended the event
and MTSH's Executive Director U Thurane
Aung has participated as a panelist in the
investment and financial outlook of My-

anmar with senior experts.

Euromoney Conferences ¢ [03sgeoqCo
20pd Myanmar Global Investment
Forum 2019 o3 joop 9561 ocdoo€oma
(00) qobsE (00) qoboRt eslgpSeort§
Myanmar International Convention
Center- 2 (MICC- 2) § [gc9636p ooqmoeeg
38 32005sqps qEs&i{g04opqps 00qEiants
BCep 308 F0pbigps 000563
MTSH & Executive Director [g6op
Broghfosmnbono Biunficd oBbH
$¢ ogolopadep sa50005[gbagsig sac0:
2000 co&[gEad:00dgedgpiad deEagioné
0pgEypisCancy dolaagiegsdcloopd

Dr. Min Ye Paing Hein, senior ambassa-
dors from foreign emabssies in Myan-
mar, top government officials, officials
from Malaysia-Myanmar  Business
Chamber, local and foreign businessper-
sons, Chairman of MTSH and media at-

tended the occassion.

qC:8:g05qsE  8E¢[grsBgrrenodogudeqpol
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MTSH TAKES PART IN MALAYSIA-MYANMAR CONNECT 2019

U Kyaw Zaw Wai, CEO of Myanmar Thil-
awa SEZ Holdings Public Company Lim-
ited, participated in the intellectual dis-
cussion at Malaysia-Myanmar Connect
2019 which took place at Wyndham
Grand Hotel Yangon on August 30,
2019. He joined experts from various
sectors in the discussion representing

the private sector.

Yangon Region Prime Minister U Phyo
Min Thein, Deputy Minister of Industry

005c0é:§ Wyndham Grand Hotel ogé
Joog 9581 [030030 po qodesm b
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Malaysia-Myanmar Connect 2019
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW

FY2019 GROUP FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Net Profit

MMK

8.3

FY2019 ° MMK 8.3 bn

FY2018-19 MMK15.6 bn

FY2017-18 MMK 12.8 bn

* six-months from Apr-19 to Sep-19

Gross Profit

bn

MMK 1 .1 .

Fy2019 - MMK 1.1 bn

FY2018-19 MMK 3.2 bn

FY2017-18 MMK 5.2 bn

Earning Per Share

211

FY2019

FY2018-19

FY2017-18

MMK 211

MMK 398

MMK 310

# six-months from Apr-19 to Sep-19

Return on Equity

FY2018-19

FY2017-18

T annualized for 12 months

19.,

% CHANGE FY 2019 FY 2018-19
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR (MMK '000)
Net Profit (86.8%) 595,050 4,519,791
Share of Profit from Associate, MJTD (32.6%) 7,679,950 11,395,054
Profit Attributables to Equity Holers (47.0%) 8,203,303 15,487,486
AS AT (MMK “000) 30-Sep-19 31-Mar-19
Cash and Cash Equivalents (12.8%) 28,217,748 32,343,081
Total Loan and Borrowing - 0 0
Total Equity (1.6%) 90,577,172 92,048,849
Debt to Equity Ratio - 0 0

OPERATING LANDSCAPE
AND OUTLOOK

We are exposed to residential and com-
mercial real estate sector through our
investment in Thilawa Property Devel-
opment Limited, and industrial real es-
tate sector through Myanmar Japan
Thilawa Development Limited. Follow-
ing section discuss performance and
outlook of real estate sector in order to
provide better understanding of our

business and business environment.

Outbreak of Covid-19 has disrupted the
Global economy and Myanmar fare the
share of worldwide economic down-
turn. Temporary shutdown of factories,
quarantined workforce and travel re-
strictions during outbreak has inter-
rupted supply chains and slow down
the trade flows, which in turn collapse
both consumer and investment senti-

ment.

Residential sector continues to under-
performed in 2019 due to oversupply of
properties in market, limited access to
financing and weak demand. Outlook
for 2020 remains gloomy as market sen-
timent growing weaker due to conse-
quence of covid-19. Commercial and
retail sector performed moderately in
2019, but anticipated to decline in rent-
al rate and rental space in the wake of

economic downturn.

Industrial estate performed well in 2019
and demands for industrial land will re-
mains strong due to growing manufac-
turing sector. According to “Manufac-
turing Guide 2020” published by
European Chamber of Commerce in
Myanmar, prospective for manufactur-

ing sector remains positive as manufac-

turing sector growth outpaced overall
economic growth. As an only opera-
tional special economic zone and best
industrial park in Myanmar at the pres-
ent time, Thilawa Special Economic
Zone is positioned to reap the benefits
and opportunities of this manufacturing
growth. We believe Thilawa SEZ will
continue to attract as the best destina-
tion for investors. In the short term, our
industrial estate sector is not immune
to impact of Covid-19 crisis and may ex-
perience temporary slump in revenue

in second half of the 2020.

Market research suggests that economy
may resume toward the end of 2020
and full economic recovery in 2021.
This crisis has reset the traditional per-
spective and recovery will likely to rein-
vent the global economy. Companies
across the world noticed the conse-
guence of over-reliance of inputs from
China. Global manufacturers will en-
courage materials and components
suppliers to shift their factories closer
to local manufacturing base, which will
increase demand for international qual-
ity industrial parks. Companies are also
starting to recognize the importance of
satellite offices for BCP purposes and
will start to look at the suburban office

or suburban business park.

Based on market outlook and industry
analysis we believe that industrial es-
tate will maintain its strong perfor-
mance for coming years, growing de-
mand for commercial real estate
especially for office space while resi-
dential sector will remain sluggish. We
will calibrate our strategy and business
plan in the lights of latest development
in the market. We believe that we have
resilience and resources necessary not

only to overcome the pandemic, but to
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emerge stronger in the post Covid-19.
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INTEGRATED REPORT

We are committed to build long-term
value creation for shareholders and
stakeholders connected to our busi-
ness. In our endeavor to fulfill corporate
mission of creating value for all stake-
holders in transparent, responsible and
sustainable ways, our business activities
and subsequent outcome have interac-
tions with various type of resources
(“the capitals”) during the course of val-
ue creation process. These capitals
comprise financial, manufactured, nat-
ural, intellectual, human, social and re-

lationship.

It is our responsibility to communicate
to stakeholders how we conducted our
business activities in transparent and
comprehensive report. Financial infor-

mation alone is not sufficient for com-
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prehensive understanding of our activi-
ties and performance. We have used
integrated reporting to link strategy,
value creation process and perfor-
mance to provides broader and deeper
insight and to tell more coherent value
creation story. Moreover, integrated re-
porting link contribution of our activi-
ties toward Myanmar Sustainable De-
velopment Plan (MSDP), United Nations
Development Programme (UNDP), Sus-
tainable Development Goals (SDGs),
and integrated report also serve the

purpose of sustainability report.

Guided by our vision, mission and cor-
porate value, our strategy is to balance
between conformance and perfor-
mance aspects of governance, actively

coordinating between investments to

information and monetized value of
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entities net of intercompany transac-
tions. These aggregate values include
the portion not related to us by virtue of
control or significant influence as de-
fined in accounting standards. The rea-
son for going beyond the boundary of
financial reporting entityis the effect of
risk and opportunities created from
these activities can better understand

on aggregate basis.

We define value created as total reve-
nue of all entities within the group after
eliminating intercompany transactions.
We make value for ourselves by creating
value for customer by delivering benefi-
cial products to them along the real es-
tate value chain. In FY2019, created val-
ue amount to MMK 63 billion
(FY2018-2019: MMK 76 billion) and dis-

tributed to our stakeholders as follow.
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capture the synergy among the invest-
ments and making focus investments in
the real estate value chain, asset clas-
sand location. The following diagram il-

lustrates our value creation process.

Boundary of reporting entity for finan-
cial capital is the same as financial re-
porting entity for financial statements.
Financial information presented in fi-
nancial capital are in consistent with fi-

nancial statements. Our financial state-
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ments are audited by independent
auditor and conformed to International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

and regulatory requirements.
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Value creation and distribution

FINANCIAL CAPITAL

The company had changed the financial
year end from March (i.e. previous fi-
nancial year end) to September (i.e.
current financial year end), in accord-
ance with the legislation enacted by the
parliament. The financial statements for
current financial year FY2019 covered
the six-month period from 1 April 2019
to 30 September 2019. The financial
statements for previous financial year
(“FY2018-19”) covered the twelve-

MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC CO.,LTD

Communities
0.5%

(FY 2018-19:1%)

Society through supplier
and business partner

/ 67%

month period from 1 April 2018 to 31
March 2019. As a result, the amounts
presented in financial statements are

not entirely comparable.

The group revenue for FY2019 is MMK
2.1 billion, declined 60% from previous
year and group net profit for FY2019 is
MMK 8.2 billion, which is 47% decrease
from previous financial year. The main

reason for decrease is due to shorter re-
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porting period and decrease in foreign
exchange gain caused by relatively sta-
ble MMK/USD exchange rate. Gross
profit margin remains high at healthy
level of 51% for FY2019.

Cash generated from operating activi-
ties for FY2019 is MMK 7 billion. Cash
balance is MMK 28 billion, and the re-
tained earning is MMK 44 billion at the

end of financial year.
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Financial capital

Return on equity (%)
Return on assets (%)
Current ratio (Time)
Quick ratio (Time)
Earning per share (MMK)
Earning yield (%)

PE ratio (Time)

PB ratio (Time)

Dividend per share (MMK)
Dividend yield (%)

Payout ratio (%)

# annualized for 12 months

4 4l

FY2019
19% #
18% #

27

14
211
5%
19.5x
1.8 x
200
5%

95%

FY2018-19
17%
16%
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14%
7.2 X
1.2 x
250
9%
63%
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FY2017-18
14%
13%

16

9
310
11%
9.2 x
1.3x
230
8%
74%
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Manufactured capital are physical ob-
jects that are available to us for use in
generating future revenue. We have
generated following manufactured cap-
itals through our investment in Thilawa
Property Development Limited and My-
anmar Japan Thilawa Development Lim-
ited. We aim to make Thilawa SEZ a des-

tination for “Work, Live and Play”.

711
Thilawa  Property Develop-

ment  Limited (“TPD”) was
formed to undertake the devel-
opment, construction, market-
ing, leasing and operation of the
Residential ~and  Commercial
Area, Shopping Malls and Hyper
Market in Thilawa Special Eco-
nomic Zone (“Thilawa SEZ”). TPD
is a joint venture with Thilawa
Special Economic Zone Manage-
ment Committee Company Limit-
ed (“TSMCC”) in which TSMCC
owns 20% and Myanmar Thilawa
SEZ Holdings Public Company

Limited own 80%. 7y

Thilawa Garden City

Residential and commercial land own
by TPD has total area of 34 hectares, of
which 1 hectare was subleased to 8 ma-
jor local banks where KBZ Bank and
Yoma Bank are under construction and

0.6 hectare was subleased to Super Ho-

tel which had commenced their opera-
tion since March 2019. Another 1.1
hectare was used for development of
worker accommodation and shophous-
es. As of 30™ September 2019, we still
have balance of 21 hectares available
for future sublease and/or own devel-

opment.

Workers accommodation, shophouses,
Super Hotel, ATM from local banks and
convenience store, and food court for
Western foods, Japanese foods, Thai
foods, and Local & Chinese foods are
operational in Thilawa Garden City cur-
rently. Upcoming projects such as de-
velopment of shoppingmall, and branch
of local banks are expected to boost the
foot traffic and vibrancy of residential

and commercial area.

TPD has completed infrastructures for
electricity, telecommunication net-
works, waste water treatment and wa-
ter purification plant to cater the utili-
ties requirements of the growing
numbers of residents and tenants with-
in Thilawa Garden City. Maintenance
fee and utilities fee are expected to pro-
vide stable source of recurring income
for TDP.

Property

We have 24 units of shophouses in resi-
dential and commercial area through
our subsidiary TPD and 18 units are still

available for sale and/or rental.

Workers accommodation

Three dormitory buildings with 180
rooms available for rent have complet-
ed by TPD and occupancy rate at 30®
September 2019 is 38%.

171

Myanmar  Japan  Thilawa
Development Limited (“MJTD”)
was established to undertake the
development, marketing, leasing
and operation of Industrial Area
in Thilawa SEZ. Mlyanmar Thilawa
SEZ Holdings Public Company
Limited is the largest shareholder
of the MJTD and hold 41% of

MJTD’s paid up shares capital. ’d

Industrial Area

Industrial parks under MJTD represent
our largest manufactured capital and
Zone A has total salable area 300 hec-
tares, of which 99% has leased out to 84
companies. Zone B phase 1, phase 2
and phase 3 has combined salable area
182 hectares and 48% had leased out to
20 companies. Zone B phase 4 has 26
hectares of salable area and develop-
ment works are in progress. Apart from
land lease income, industrial parks gen-
erate recurring income from utility and

maintenance service.

As of 30" September 2019, Thilawa
Special Economic Zone still have 1, 768
hectares of land available for future de-
velopment, and remaining land is about
3 times of our completed development

over past 6 years.

Entry of Toyota Motor Corporation in
May 2019 to establish a factory in Thila-
wa SEZ, and expansion of factory by Su-

zuki Motor Corporation raised the repu-
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tation of our industrial park to another
level. We are optimistic that growing
demands for land in our industrial park
from supporting industries of both au-

tomobile manufacturers is forthcoming.

There are 113 tenants from 18 coun-
tries, with investment totaling USD 1.86
billion and 16 tenants have expanded
their business. Following charts show
their country of origin, operational sta-
tus and composition of industry as of
30% September 2019.

Water purification plant and sewage
treatment plant

MJTD owns water purification plant
with the capacity of 6,000 m? per day
and sewage treatment plant with the
capacity of 4,800 m? per day. Additional
water receiving facility with the capacity
of 3,000 m® per day to accommodate
for increasing water demand is under
construction sheduled to complete in
the year 2020. These are another

source of our recurring income.

Operation status of

tenants in Industrial Parks

Commercial operation started

68%

Before construction

10% \

Under construction

21% S

Construction completed v
1%
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Factory and office space

We also have fifteen factories, and of-
fice spaces available for rent under
MJTD, where 100% occupancy rate for
factories and 82% for office spaces. An-
other 7 factories are under construc-
tion. These will form part of our recur-

ring income base.

Tenants country of origin

India

Myanmar
2% 1%
Europe A Japan

(Ex Japan) TN

1%

USA

51%
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Classification of tenants by Global
Industry Classification Standard

Commercial & Professional
Services
3%

Pharmaceuticals, Biotechnology

& Life Sciences
4%
Automobiles &
Components
4%

Household & Personal
Products
6%

Food, Beverage &
Tobacco

10% \

Consumer

Durables &

Apparel
11%
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Technology Hardware &
Equipment
3%

Health Care Equipment &
Services
1%

Materials
26%
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NATURAL CAPITAL

Environment is the most valuable natu-
ral capital not only for our business, but
also for society as a whole. In the era of
epidemic natural disaster, global warm-
ing and climate change, we are obliged
to minimize environmental impact of
our activities as a responsible member

of society.

As an investor of property developer,
owner and manager, major source of
environmental impact come from elec-
tricity consumption, water consump-
tion and waste generated from our ac-

tivities.

Power intensity ratio for FY2019 is 4.96
(FY2018-19: 4.82) and this is 3% in-
crease from previous year. The increase
was due to increasing number of our
tenants starting their commercial oper-
ation within industrial parks rather than
inefficiency of our operation. We expect
the power intensity ratio will continue

to rise in the future as more tenants
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commencing commercial operation.
Our source of water for consumption
come from reservoir, and there is no
withdrawal from underground aquifer.
We have treated 75% of water con-
sumed by the group and tenants before
discharge into the creeks. Golden
DOWA Eco-System Myanmar Co., Ltd
operate industrial waste treatment fa-
cilities in our industrial parks and man-
age the waste generated by our ten-
ants. For FY2019, waste intensity ratio is
2.04 (FY2018-19: 4.90), the decrease
was due to drying the waste sludge be-
fore disposal to reduce the weight. We
will monitor and endeavor to bench-
mark these intensity ratios to maintain
them at optimum point to minimize car-

bon foot print of our operation.

At the operational level, environment
impact of our activities is continually
monitor and publish to general public
through our business unit website. Envi-

ronmental impact assessment and peri-
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odic environment monitoring report for
Thilawa Special Economic Zone A and

Zone B are available in following links.

https://www.mjtd.com.mm/environ-
mental-impact-assessment

https://www.mjtd.com.mm/environ-
mental-monitoring-activities-and-re-

ports

We have also created online weather
monitoring system for Thilawa SEZ
which is accessible by public at the fol-
lowing link https://www.mjtd.com.mm/
weather-monitoring-system-thila-

Wwa-sez.

In the process of creating value for our
stakeholders, we have transformed ag-
riculture land into industrial, residential
& commercial land. In order to compen-
sate the loss of habitat for flora and fau-
na, and protect the biodiversity and
ecosystem, 21.7 ha of Zone A and 20.2

ha Zone B will be established as green

space. In addition to establishing com-
mon area as green space, each tenant
will set 15% of their plot for green

space.

We have planted 3,643 big trees, 13,543
small trees, 930 hard wood and 9,598
shrubs and bushes in Thilawa SEZ as

part of our effort to greening plan.
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INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL

Intellectual capital is an intangible asset
that we use to create value for all stake-
holder, develop new business, improve
existing business or provides competi-
tive advantage. Our intellectual capital
comprises organizational knowledge,
information, system, procedures, cor-
porate brand and reputation retained
even when key employee left the organ-

ization.

Like all intangible assets, intellectual
capital is subjective to measure and dif-
ficult to quantify. So, we choose to use
narrative explanation of our effort to
improve and preserve the intellectual

capital at organizational level.

Since prior to commencement of Thila-
wa SEZ, we have conducted numerous
assessments and planning of project
area covering land use and reclamation,
road and drainage system, water supply,
power supply, telecommunication,
greening, flood control, contamination
control, population and socio-demo-
graphic study, and biodiversity. Knowl-
edge and information generated from
these studies and planning works are
shared, disseminated and discussed

among all level of management.

We are closely working with TSMC and
JICA in our engagement with both com-
munities affected by and surrounding
Thilawa SEZ. Operation and manage-
ment of industrial park at Thilawa SEZ is
currently led by dispatched expert from
our partner organization such as Sumi-
tomo Corporation, Marubeni Corpora-
tion, Mitsubishi Corporation, Mizuho

Bank as well as from MTSH.

We aim to transfer knowledges, skills

and expertise of dispatched employee
to local staff and retain within the or-
ganization. Systems, standardized pro-
cedures, work instructions and databas-
es are imperative to realizing our aim.
We focus on enhancing our system and
standard operating procedure to facili-
tate transfer, retain and improve the op-
erational knowledge by leveraging the
technology. Human resource manage-
ment system, automated billing system
with online customer portal for our ten-
ants to download invoice using their in-
dividual log in credential and EDI pay-
ment mechanism connecting accounting
system and internet banking are some
of the important achievements in the
development of our intellectual capital.
In addition, we are developing standard
operating procedure management sys-
tem, procurement system with budget-
ary control, resource management sys-
tem and phase 2 of automated billing

system.

One of the intellectual assets we have
cultivated is demographic information
of our tenants. We believe our tacit
knowledge of our tenants will give com-
petitive edge in development of future

industrial parks.

We also maintained the database of all
enquires, complaints and request from
tenants and potential tenants. In addi-
tion to taking quick action to resolve the
issue, these data are analyzed and for
improvement and prevention of recur-
rence. These in-depth knowledges lead
to better fulfilment of tenants’ require-
ments and achieved 92% satisfaction
rate in customer satisfaction survey.
Our accumulated knowledge of needs

and concerns of our tenants become
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part of valuable intellectual capital.

As a public company listed in Yangon
Stock Exchange, we are always dedicat-
ed to corporate governance, transpar-
ency and public disclosure. Our dedica-
tion was recognized by the Myanmar
Centre for Responsible Business
(“MCRB”), ranked as 7% in Pwint Thit Sa
2019 Transparency in Myanmar Enter-
prise (TIME) report. We have also at-
tained “the Best Return on Equity (ROE)
Award” for two consecutive years of
2019 and 2020, and “the Best Share
Price Award” for 2020. Our chairman
has received the “2019 Myanmar Real
Estate Personality of the Year Award”
for his contribution to Myanmar’s in-
dustrial development through projects
in our organization. We believe these
recognitions and awards are important
contributions to our brand and reputa-

tion.
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HUMAN CAPITAL

Employee play important role in our val-
ue creation process, we entrusted the
resources in them to increase, preserve
and transform our financial, manufac-
tured, intellectual, social and relation-
ship, and natural capital. We are always
committed to attract, upgrade and re-
tain skilled, trained, talented pool of
employee. We have provided various
type of support for learning such as
class room lectures, seminars, knowl-
edge sharing session, on the job train-
ing, off the job training and study time-
off. The trainings received by our
employee are not only intend to con-
tribute our business but to enrich their
personal and professional development
and to create future business leader for

society.

Our group manpower strength at the
end of FY2019 is 199 (FY2018-2019:
203) and it is 2% decrease from previ-
ous financial year. 42% (FY2017-2018:
33%) of our workforce are female em-
ployee and 97% (FY2018-2019: 97%) of

the total workforce are local employee.

Our staff turnoveris 25% and this is 31%
decrease from previous year. We have
formulated numerous policies with spe-
cialist HR consultants, and introduced
measure such as competitive compen-
sation strategy, training program, moti-
vation program and engagement pro-

gram to retain talented employee.

We have achieved over 811 man-hours
of training and O workplace accidents

and injury for this financial year.
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99“9“89%5"21.5@%&39"? SOCIAL AND RELATIONSHIP CAPITAL
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l" We believed that trust in our organization by stakeholders
is a social license to operate our business. Our social and
relationship capital is the trust and long-term relationship
with all the stakeholders we have nurture over the years.
We will continue to focus on building up the trust and
relationship with all stakeholders. In addition to distribut-
ing the value created which we have discussed earlier, we
also engaged following activities with stakeholders to

enhance the trust and relationship.

Myanmar Government has published Myanmar Sustaina-
ble Development Plan (MSDP) in August 2018 with the
vision of creating “a Peaceful, Prosperous and Democratic
Myanmar”. MSDP has 3 Pillars, 5 Goals 28 Strategies and
251 Action Plans, and all are firmly aligned with the United

Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

We are glad to report growing numbers of engagement
program and activities conducted, and how these activities
contributed toward the achievement of Myanmar Sustain-
able Development Plan and Sustainable Development

Goals.
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The Myanmar Sustainable Development Plan Summary Framework

A Peaceful, Prosperous & Democratic Myanmar
Goal I: Goal 2: Goal 4: Goal 5:
Peace, National Economic Job Creation & Human Natural
Reconciliation, Stability & Private Sector Resources & Resources & the
Security & Good Strengthened Led Growth Social Environment for
Governance Macroeconomic Development for | Posterity of the
Management a 21st Century Nation
Society
PILLAR I: PILLAR 2: PILLAR 3:
PEACE & STABILITY PROSPERITY & PEOPLE & PLANET
PARTNERSHIP




Stakeholder

Shareholders

Business partners

Supplier and contractor

Tenants

Community

Engagement activities

Maintain good relationship with founding shareholders

Meeting and providing information to equity analysts from Securities
Companies for equity research report enable

Convened sixth AGM in September 2019

Directors attendance of The Audit Committee Master Program conducted

by Myanmar Institute of Directors (MIoD)
Director attendance of Director Certification Program conducted by

Myanmar Institute of Directors (MIoD)

Appointment of independent invigilator for AGM voting process

Engage through timely disclosure in YSX, Corporate websites and
Facebook page to ensure all shareholders have equal access to information

Ranked 7" in PwintThit Sa 2019 Transparency in Myanmar Enterprises

Report

Best Return on Equity Award for 2019 & 2020 and Best Share Price Award for 2020
by Yangon Stock Exchange

Highest float stock in YSX with highest % of shares available for trading

Publication of FY2019 Annual Report

Maintain good relationship with Mitsubishi Corporation, Marubeni,

Sumitomo, JICA and TSMC

Conduct our purchasing activities in a fair, honest and legal manner with

openness and integrity

Award contracts on the basis of value for money, not simply lowest price

Prompt payment and making complaints courteously

Ensure that all tenderers have equal access to information
Work with local business and voluntary sector support organizations to
promote the opportunities to work with us

Convene regular meeting with tenants, customer satisfaction surveys
Quickly resolve all enquiries, complaints and concerns raised by tenants

within 14 days

Analyze and review tenants calls for prevention and improvement
Brought in industrial waste treatment operator to Thilawa SEZ
Retention canals and ponds for flood control in Thilawa SEZ
Water purification plant in Thilawa SEZ

Review, enforce and discipline environment report submission by tenants

Operating industrial park with tenants from diverse range of countries and

industries

Online weather monitoring system

Online automated invoicing system

Regularly conduct Thilawa Community Coordination Meeting

Public consultation of project before commencement

Thilawa Complaint Management procedure to receive, investigate and
facilitate resolution of grievance caused by Thilawa SEZ activities
Supporting land compensation, resettlement, Income Restoration Program,
Vulnerable Support Program, Vocational Training Program

Electricity support to monastery in the vicinity of Thilawa SEZ

Contribute and lead the community relation program with our tenants,

the program covers

MSDP Pillar-Goal

Pillar 2 - Goal 3

Pillar 2 - Goal 3

Pillar 1 - Goal 1

Pillar 2 - Goal 3

Pillar 3 - Goal 4
Pillar 2 - Goal 3

Pillar 3 - Goal 4
Pillar 1 - Goal 1

Pillar 1 - Goal 1

Pillar 1 - Goal 1

Pillar 2 - Goal 3

Pillar 1 - Goal 1

Pillar 1 - Goal 1
Pillar 2 - Goal 3

Pillar 1 - Goal 1
Pillar 2 - Goal 3
Pillar 2 - Goal 3

Pillar 1 - Goal 1
Pillar 2 - Goal 3
Pillar 2 - Goal 3

Pillar 2 - Goal 3

Pillar 2 - Goal 3

Pillar 2 - Goal 3

Pillar 2 - Goal 3
Pillar 3 - Goal 5
Pillar 3 - Goal 5
Pillar 3 - Goal 5

Pillar 3 - Goal 5

Pillar 3 - Goal 5

Pillar 3 - Goal 5
Pillar 3 - Goal 5
Pillar 1 - Goal 1
Pillar 3 - Goal 4
Pillar 1 - Goal 1
Pillar 3 - Goal 4
Pillar 1 - Goal 1
Pillar 3 - Goal 4
Pillar 2 - Goal 3
Pillar 3 - Goal 4

Pillar 3 - Goal 4
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Stakeholder

Community

Government

Employee

General public

Engagement activities

Education support (Free English class, Stationery Donation ngth
Back to school program” for 2,700 students, Furniture &
computers donation to schools, Scholarship for Primary, Secondary
and University Students)

Infrastructure support (Library, School building and Road

construction, Drainage repair in villages)

Social welfare, Health and Environmental Support (Nutrition
program, Kahtina robe offering, Myanmar New Year Festival,
Health awareness program, Hygiene and sanitation program,
Free health check program, Drug abuse awareness program,
Clinical equipment donation, Trash collection activity, Schools
sport program, Thilawa Community Run event)

Contribute to government with timely and correct payment of income tax,

commercial tax, tax withhold from supplier and employee

Participate in various programs organized by governmental agencies such

as TSMC, SECM and DICA

Paid Kyat 206 million net commercial tax to Internal Revenue Department

in FY2019 (FY2018-19: Kyat 755 million)

Received visit of government delegation from General Administration
Department to Thilawa SEZ

Support of isolation rooms, fever clinic and medical supplies for various hospitals,

foods and accommodation for health care workers totaling MMK 115 million during

Covid-19 outbreak

Received the visit of State Counsellor, Vice President, Union Ministers and

States/Regional Ministers

Fair compensation, training support, safe working environment, subsidy of

medical cost

Equal employment opportunity and gender equality in hiring, training and promotion

Vaccination program

Employee support initiatives during WFH and lockdown during Covid-19 outbreak

Team building trips, staff appreciation dinner and employee engagement program

Continue support of anti-corruption through UN Global Compact
Participate in various seminars, workshop and events organized by YSX
and Securities Companies

Support data to researchers working for master degree thesis
Internship program for students from Technical University

Plantation of trees, shrubs and bushes, and creating green space

Blood donation activity

Responsible use of water only from reservoir, not from aquifer
Treatment of used water before discharge into creek

Regularly monitoring environment in Thilawa SEZ covering, water and
waste water quality, air quality, noise vibration, soil contamination, waste
disposal, and ground water quality

Contributing to Myanmar Economy and country GDP through attracting
FDI and Job creation in Thilawa region (113 tenants from 19 countries,

investment totaling USD 1.86 billion and over 11,380 jobs created)

MSDP Pillar-Goal

Pillar 3 - Goal 4

Pillar 3 - Goal 4

Pillar 3 - Goal 4

Pillar 1 - Goal 2

Pillar 1 - Goal 1

Pillar 1 - Goal 2

Pillar 1 - Goal 1

Pillar 3 - Goal 4

Pillar 1 - Goal 1

Pillar 2 - Goal 3

Pillar 3 - Goal 4
Pillar 2 - Goal 3

Pillar 3 - Goal 4
Pillar 3 - Goal 4

Pillar 3 - Goal 4

Pillar 3 - Goal 4

Pillar 1 - Goal 1

Pillar 3 - Goal 4

Pillar 3 - Goal 4
Pillar 2 - Goal 3
Pillar 3 - Goal 4
Pillar 3 - Goal 5

Pillar 3 - Goal 5
Pillar 3 - Goal 5

Pillar 3 - Goal 5

Pillar 1 - Goal 2
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MSDP Pillar-Goal
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Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Heldings Public Co., Ltd.
g™ ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING

HOLDING OF 6™ ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

On 1 September 2019, the 6th Annual
General Meeting of Myanmar Thilawa
SEZ Holdings Public Co., Ltd was
successfully held at Myanmar Expo Hall
and 1514 shareholders attended the
meeting. U Phyo Min Thein, Chief
Minister of Yangon Region and H.E Mr.
Ichiro Maruyama, Ambassador Extraor-
dinary and Plenipotentiary of Japan to
the Republic of the Union of Myanmar,
honored the occasion and gave speech-
es as special guests. In the meeting, U
Win Aung, Chairman of MTSH stated
the significant progress of the company,
its financial data, future potential
business projects for MTSH and the
success of Thilawa Special Economic
Zone in Myanmar. As the following
agenda, Dr. Nyan Thit Hlaing, one of the
BOD members reported to the share-

holders on the Company's FY

2018-2019 Financial Report and Direc-
tor Report to be approved. In the 6th
Annual General Meeting, shareholders
approved the meeting resolutions of (1)
to get approval of the dividend payment
that was proposed by 250 kyats per
share for FY 2018-2019, (2) to appoint
the elected directors in the election: U
Tin Maung Hlaing, U Thurane Aung, U
Min Oo and Daw Aye Aye Aung, (3) to
re-appoint the incumbent Independent
Directors: Professor Dr. Aung Tun Thet,
U Tin Htut Oo and U Aung Nyunt, (4) to
re-appoint Win Thin and Associates as
external auditor for FY 2019-2020 and
(5) to get approval for rewarding 1% of
net profit of FY 2018-2019 as BOD

Bonus to members of the Board.
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MAJOR BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As of 12™ May 2020, the following are our 20 major beneficial shareholders.

*Out of which 1,900,000 shares are being pledged to AYA Bank Ltd.

SHAREHOLDING STATISTICS

We set out below our Company's Shareholder Statistics as at 12.05.2020.

ALl iEdARETAEE ATISEE

N T I
IETTARNERInannnne:

Certificate of Range of Shares Number of Shareholders Percent (%) Number of Shares Percent (%)
No. Name incorporation/number of | No. of Shares %
certificate of citizenshi 1-1,000 13,967 81.46% 4,054,874 10.42%
p
- 0, 0,
1 |Myanmar Agribusiness Public Co., Ltd* 152260156 1948640 | 501 1,001-2,000 1,027 >-99% 1,696,658 4.36%
2,001-3,000 552 3.22% 1,478,168 3.80%
2 |Myanma Agricultural & General Development Public Co., Ltd 168982240 1,900,000 4.88
3,001-4,000 166 0.97% 591,666 1.52%
3 [New City Development Public Co., Ltd 114530247 1,900,000 4.88 4,001-5,000 414 2.41% 2,034,303 5.23%
4 |Myanmar Edible Oil Industrial Public Co., Ltd 115632523 1,797,000 4.62 5,001-6,000 638 3.72% 3,373,775 8.67%
6,001-7,000 76 0.44% 498,564 1.28%
5 |Golden Land East Asia Development Public Co., Ltd 115075667 1,771,546 4.55
7,001-8,000 48 0.28% 358,741 0.92%
6 |Myanmar Technologies and Investment Corporation Public Co., Ltd [117380068 1,592,101 4.09 8,001-9,000 27 0.16% 231,029 0.59%
7 |National Development Company Group Public Co., Ltd 196167323 1,179,622 3.03 9,001-10,000 25 0.15% 241,011 0.62%
10,001-100,000 169 0.999 4,067,477 10.459
8 |Asia Mega Link Co., Ltd** 104307876 994,924 2.56 . : % [t %
100,001-1,000,000 30 0.17% 8,213,975 21.10%
9 [First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd 121398001 643,503 1.65
1,000,001 and above 7 0.04% 12,088,909 31.05%
10 |U Naing Moe 12/LaMaTa(N)011754 537,980 1.38 Total 17,146 100% 38,929,150 100%
11 |U Tun Lwin 12/LaMaTa(N)013763 523,850 1.35
12 |U Thurane Aung 12/KaMaYa(N)050839 493,540 1.27
13 |Daw Ei Hnin Pwint 12/KaMaYa(N)050838 412,040 1.06 i
14 |Great Bell Logistic & Services Co., Ltd*** 101054004 291,349 0.75 —
15 |U Kyaw Zaw Thant 12/LaMaTa(N)034764 277,220 0.71
16 |Daw Moe Mya Mya 12/KaMaYa(N)045039 257,500 0.66 E
i
17 |U Win Aung 12/KaMaYa(N)008220 256,340 0.66 "
18 |Asia World Industries Limited**** 105925921 249,847 0.64 ;1::. .
19 |Daw Ei Hnin Khine 12/KaMaYa(N)050840 236,830 0.61 E : - i
. o | b2EEEEEFEE
11 i HE
20 |Asia Mega Link Services Co., Ltd***** 106127433 227,310 0.58 ; ;i | i _
3o E PR
Eja . '
[ER ]
B B

=5
e,

** Out of which 314,806 shares are being pledged to CB Bank Ltd.

***0ut of which 101,000 shares are being pledged to CB Bank Ltd.
****0ut of which 152,000 shares are being pledged to CB Bank Ltd.

**F**0ut of which 222, 008 shares are being pledged to AYA Bank Ltd.
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SUSTAINABILITY POLICY

MTSH and our associate and subsidiary
companies have been working diligently
in areas of sustainability since incep-
tions. Our leaders are some of the larg-
est supporters of philanthropic causes
and our company has led the industry in
good governance and ethics practices

for some time.

Our biggest opportunity lies in taking a
strong position in support of environ-
mental sustainability. Recent studies
have shown that buildings account for
as much as 40% of the earth's green-
house gas emissions, which are believed
to contribute to climate change. As a
leading real estate services firm in My-
anmar, our ability to influence how real
estate is built, sourced, occupied, and

sold, is unsurpassed.

Climate change is a significant risk for
Myanmar; extreme weather may im-
pact our operations. We believe we can
make a tangible impact on our environ-
ment by improving energy efficiency,
reducing greenhouse gas emissions. We
will work with our tenants and business
partners to make greener environment,
and contribute to the fight against cli-

mate change.

MTSH recognizes the value of aligning
with the international standards for sus-
tainable and responsible business prac-
tices. MTSH is a member of the United
Nations Global Compact (UNGC) since
2015. The UNGC was initiated in 2,000
to promote global corporate responsi-
bility with 10 guiding principles. We
support the Sustainable Development
Goals (‘SDGs’), adopted in 2015, a plan
to tackle the world’s most pressing so-

cial, economic and environmental chal-

lenges. SDGs cover 17 topics and pro-
pose appropriate targets for 2030. We
are also dedicated to complying with
the United Nations Universal Declara-

tion of Human Rights.

MTSH is commitments to the United
Nations Global Compact (UNGC), the
United Nations Sustainable Develop-
ment Goals, and strive to improve the
integration principles into our culture,
strategy and operations as an ongoing
commitment to being a responsible

business.

Our latest communication on progress
report for UNGC is available at the
https://www.mtshmyanmar.com/

non-financial-reporting/1092.

A few highlights of our contributions:
e Planted over 10,000 trees and
3,000 shrubs & bushes in Residen-

tial and Commercial areas

e  Established total 42 ha of green
space in Industrial Park Zone A and

Zone B

¢ No withdrawal from underground
aquifer, all water consumption

from reservoir

e Sewage treatment plant with daily
capacity of 4,800 m? treated 59%
of consumed water before dis-

charging

¢ Implemented online weather mon-

itoring system for Thilawa SEZ

¢ Committed equal employment op-

portunity, gender equality

e Giving back to the communities
(e.g. support local schools, blood

donations)
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RISK MANAGEMENT

Effective risk management is a key foun-
dation of delivering our strategy and in-
tegral to the achievement of our objec-
tive of creating value for stakeholders.
Our risk management framework com-
prises risk governance, risk assessment,
risk response and monitoring and re-

porting.

MTSH Risk Management Framework

Risk
Governance

P Risk Policy

P Risk Strategy

P Risk Analysis

P Risk Appetite

Assessment

P Risk
Identification

sights of risk management process by
Board.

In first line of defense, day-to-day man-
agement of risk is embedded within op-
erational management. Head of busi-
ness units and departments ensure that
daily operations are in compliance with
established policies, SOPs, guideline

and regulation.

Risk

P Risk
Control

P Risk

P Risk
Management
Guideline,
Methodology,
Tool

In risk governance structure, the Board
(as assisted by the Audit, Risk & Compli-
ance Committee) is responsible for
overall risk management of the compa-
ny. The Audit, Risk & Compliance Com-
mittee takes responsibility for oversee-
ingthe effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems on behalf
of the Board, and senior management is

tasks with implementing the system.

We have adopted the three lines of de-

fense approach to allow effective over-

Measurement

Risk management functions serve as
second line of defense by establishing
and implementing the risk manage-
ment framework. Risk management as-
sists business units and departments in
risk management process, reviewing
risk management framework for im-
provement, and reporting to senior
management and the Audit, Risk &

Compliance Committee.

Internal audit acts as third defense line

by providing assurance to the Audit,

Risk Response

P Residual Risk
Assessment

P Residual Risk
Treatment

Risk & Compliance Committee on the In our risk assessment process, risk reg-

effectiveness of risk management, con- isters are used to document the risks
trols and governance practice. Key find- identified, level of severity and proba-
ings and internal auditor’s recommen- bility, ownership and mitigation meas-
dations for improvement are regularly ures for each risk. We have identified
reported to the Board through the Au- three major risks that may have nega-
dit Risk & Compliance Committee. tive impact on executing our strategy
and achieving our business objective.
Risk management function is responsi-

ble for effective implementation and - Strategic risk

review of our risk management frame (Political, Socio-Economic, Technol-

ogy, Legal and Reputational risk)

Monitoring &
Reporting

Our approach to risk management is
not to eliminate the risk entirely, but in-
stead to manage our risk exposures
across the business, whilst at the same
time making the most of our opportuni-
ties. We aim to establish robust and ef-
fective internal controls in place to bring
the risk to as low as reasonably practi-
cable (ALARP) level, which will allow the
management to focus on treatment of

residual risk.

Board of Directors

o o o S
Pipicel Sap
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20p5 0g§603el 3apqudumngBaps qE:84g 06
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sl BfcopSoiBhy coofRebecsnng
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960080903 eepadesdesorEandloogdi

Audit, Risk & Compliance Committtee

r

b

» Reporting

P> Roview

Business Unit
Head

1*! line of defence

Internal Controls

2™ line of defence

Risk Management

work, while ultimate responsibility for
oversight of risk management rests with
the Board.

- Operational risk and

(Environmental, Compliance, T,

Risk appetite defined the amount of risk Fraud, Health & Safety and Natural

we are willing to tolerate in pursuit of Disaster)

our strategy and objective and we have

identified tolerance level for each of the - Financial risk

principal risks. It promotes consistent, (Foreign exchange risk, Credit risk,

risk-informed’ decision-making process Market risk, Liquidity risk and refer

and it also supports robust corporate i .
to note of financial statement for
governance by setting clear risk taking

more detail
boundaries. )

The risk register will be review at least
annually, or on the occurrence of signif-
icant event where existing risk appetite
level are altered, or new risks are identi-
fied, or adequacy and effectiveness of
existing controls are impaired. The ef-
fectiveness of risk management process
and framework will be review, monitor
and report to the senior management,
the Audit, Risk & Compliance Commit-

tee annually.

Indaepenaent Auditor

3 fine of defence

Internal Audit
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

panies Act and the Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards.

a. RISK MANAGEMENT
The explanation on Risk Manage-

ment are expressed on page (78).

b. DIVIDENDS/DISTRIBUTIONS
FY 2018-2019 final dividend/distri-
bution of MMK 9,732,287,500
(MMK 250 per ordinary share) was
approved on 18" September 2019.

In respect of FY 2019, a final divi-
dend/distribution of MMK 200 per
share, amounting to MMK
7,785,830,000 was proposed by the
Directors at a Board of Directors’
Meeting held on 25" April 2020. A
resolution will be tabled by the
Board of Directors to the sharehold-

ers at the Annual General Meeting.

c. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF
AFFAIRS

There has been no significant change

in the Group’s state of affairs. The
Company continues to engage in the

business of investment holding.

. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE

SHEET DATE
There were no material events sub-
sequent to the end of the financial

year.

. AUDITORS

A resolution will be tabled by the
Board of Directors to the sharehold-
ers at the Annual General Meeting
for the reappointment of Win Thin &
Associates (Certified Public Account-
ants) as the Company’s external au-
ditors for the Financial Year 2019-
2020.

. Non-Audit Services

Win Consulting Limited (a relat-
ed company of Win Thin & Associ-
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The Directors’ Report for the Financial Year ended 30™ September 2019 has been prepared in accordance with the Myanmar Com-

ates) was engaged as voting invigila-
tor for election of directors in Annual
General Meeting.

We have engaged U Win Thin of Win
Consulting Limited as our compli-
ance officer. U Win Thin is the Chair-
man of Win Thin & Associates. The
appointment took effect from 14"
March 2016.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors,

Win Aung

Chairman
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MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019

Currency — Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands)
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MTSH MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC CO. LTD. “-' WOEINMEE_F%H‘EIIS? “;"aﬁ“SSOCI ATES

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Shwe Zabu River View Complex, 23G-1, No.3B, Tower (A), Penthouse-01 & 02, Strand Road, Ahlone Township,

Yangon, Myanmar. Tel: (+951) 2301731, Email: infﬂ@mtshmyanmar,cum HEAD oFricE - Room (2B/2C) 1* Floor, Rose Condominium, No.182/194. Botahtaung Pagoda Road, Pazundaung Township.
Yangon Region, Myanmar, Tel : 95-1-201798, 296164, Fax: 95-1-245671 Email : winthin®@myanmar.com.mm
MANDATAY BRANCH:-  Room (%10), East Wing of Bahtoo Stadium, 70% Street (Between 29 & 307 Street),
OFFICE Mandalay Region , Myanmar. Tel : 95-2-34451 , Fax: 95-2-34498

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

It is the responsibility of the management to prepare the consolidated statements of financial position of Ref: 924/ M-255/ September 2019
Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Company Limited (the Company) and its subsidiary (the
Group) as at 30 September 2019, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the Group,
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the Group, consolidated statement of cash flows of the INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
Group for the period then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes. In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the management is required to:
To the Members of the Group of Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Company Limited
— Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; and

— Make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent. Report on the Financial Statements
The management is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Myanmar Thilawa SEZ
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group. We, as management committee, have general Holdings Public Company Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiary (“the Group”) set out on
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to us to safeguard the assets of the Group and pages 87 to 110 which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group as at 30
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. September 2019, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the Group, the consolidated

statement of changes in equity of the Group, consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the
period then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

On behalf of Management
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards and the provisions of the Myanmar Companies
Law. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to
the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility

WIN AUNG Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
Chairman conducted our audit in accordance with Myanmar Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that
Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Company Limited we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
13 December 2019 whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
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Opinion MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2019

Currency — Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands)

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 30 September 2019 and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flow for the period then ended in accordance with Myanmar Financial Reporting

.. . Not 30 September 2019 31 March 2019
Standards and the provision of the Myanmar Companies Law. o epremner are

Assets

Non-current assets

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements Property, plant and equipment 6 3,451,437 2,575,168
Intangible asset 7 5,072 6,194
In accordance with the provisions of the Myanmar Companies Law, we also report that: Investment in associate 8 29,268,858 27,687,506
(1) we have obtained all the information and explanations we have required; and Other investment 9 10,000 10,000
(i1) financial records have been maintained by the Company and by its subsidiary as required by Investment property 10 4,596,147 4,535,391
Section 258 of the Law. Deferred tax assets 11 11,897 12,060
Net receivable under installment sales 12 155,013 —
Other assets 13 92,502 85,497
37,590,926 34,911,816
Current assets
@4‘" Cash and cash equivalents 14 28,217,748 32,343,081
} / Trade and other receivables 15 2,554,318 2,886,191
Inventories 16 27,051,187 27,378,947
Construction contract work in progress 17 16,270 44911
Saw Nelson (PA-400) 57,839,523 62,653,130
Engagement Partner 95,430,449 97,564,946
WIN THIN & ASSOCIATES
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS Equity and liabilities
13 December 2019 Equity
Issued and paid-up share capital 18 38,929,150 38,929,150
Retained profits 43,986,848 45,515,833
82,915,998 84,444,983
Non-controlling interest 7,661,174 7,603,866
90,577,172 92,048,849
Non-current liabilities
Advance from customers 2,718,783 2,761,465
2,718,783 2,761,465
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 2,134,494 2,460,639
Current tax liability — 293,993
2,134,494 2,754,632
95,430,449 97,564,946

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Authenticated by Directors:

WIN AUNG KYAW ZAW WAI TUN LWIN MYO MYINT AUNG
Chairman, MTSH Chief Executive Officer, MTSH Director, MTSH Head of Finance, MTSH

MTSH = Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Co., Ltd.
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MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019
Currency — Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands)

Note 1 April 2019 to 1 April 2018 to
30 September 2019 31 March 2019

Revenue 20 2,149,737 5,382,179
Cost of sales 23 (1,052,593) (2,133,698)
Gross Profit 1,097,144 3,248,481
Other income 21 594,457 1,412,902
Other gains/(losses) 22 400,974 2,683,506
Selling and marketing expenses 23 (19,731) (206,606)
Administrative expenses 23 (1,477,794) (2,618,492)
Profit for the period/year 595,050 4,519,791
Share of profit of associate 8 7,679,950 11,395,054
Profit before tax 8,275,000 15,914,845
Income tax expense 24 (14,389) (304,454)
Net Profit for the period/year 8,260,611 15,610,391
Other comprehensive income for the period/year — —
Total comprehensive income for the period/year 8,260,611 15,610,391
Profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 8,203,303 15,487,486
Non-controlling interests 57,308 122,905
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 8,203,303 15,487,486
Non-controlling interests 57,308 122,905
Earnings per share (K per share)
Basic earnings per share 25 211 398

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019
Currency — Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands)

Non-controlling

Issued and paid-up

Total equity

interest
7,603,866

Retained profits

share capital

92,048,849

45,515,833

38,929,150

Balance at 1 April 2019

Comprehensive income
Profit for the period

8,260,611

57,308

8,203,303

Other comprehensive income for the period

8,260,611

57,308

8,203,303

Total comprehensive income for the period

Contributions from and distributions to owners

Issue of share capital

Dividend

(9,732,288)
(9,732,288)

(9,732,288)
(9,732,288)

Total contributions from and distributions to owners

Balance at 30 September 2019

90,577,172

7,661,174
7,480,961

43,986,848

38,982,052

38,929,150

85,392,163

38,929,150

Restated balance at 1 April 2018

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year

15,610,391

122,905

15,487,486

Other comprehensive income for the year

15,610,391

122,905

15,487,486

Total comprehensive income for the year

Contributions from and distributions to owners

Issue of share capital

Dividend

(8,953,705)
(8,953,705)

(8,953,705)
(8,953,705)

Total contributions from and distributions to owners

Balance at 31 March 2019

92,048,849

7,603,866

45,515,833

38,929,150

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019

MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019

Currency — Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands)

1.  General information
Note 1 April 2019 to 1 April 2018 to
30 September 2019 31 March 2019 Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Company Limited (the Company) was incorporated in the
Cash flows from operating activities Republic of the Union of Myanmar on 3 May 2013 under The Myanmar Companies Act. The Act
Profit before tax 8,275,000 15,914,845 has been replaced by the Myanmar Companies Law 2017. As such, the Company has been re-
Adjustment for non-cash items: registered and issued Company Registration No. 151830293 according to the new Law.
Depreciation 211,329 380,565
Amortisation 1,122 2,119 On 26 May 2013, pursuant to the Cooperation Memorandum, the Company signed a Memorandum
Write-off 309 696 of Understanding with MMST LLP (MMS Thilawa Limited Liability Partnership) for the purpose
Unrealised profit adjustment (100,589) (122,573) of establishing the Joint Venture Company for the development, marketing, sales and operation of
Share of profit of associate (7,679,950) (11,395,054) the Class A Project.
Operating profit before working capital changes 707,221 4,780,598
Changes in working capital On 29 October 2013, pursuant to the Memorandum of Understanding mentioned above, the
Trade and other receivables 23,654 2,210,743 Company, the Thilawa SMC (Thilawa SEZ Management Committee) and MMSTD (MMS Thilawa
Inventories 219,616 (515,322) Development Co., Ltd) entered into the Joint Venture Agreement in connection with the
Construction contract work in progress 28,641 140,096 establishment of the JV Company to undertake the development, construction, marketing, sales and
Trade and other payables (326,145) (1,605,879) operation of the Class A project. The Joint Venture Company was established as Myanmar Japan
Advance from customers (42,682) 252,063 Thilawa Development Ltd. (MJTD).
Cash generated from operations 610,305 5,262,299
Income tax paid — (289,510) Under the Joint Venture Agreement, subject to the satisfaction of certain prescribed conditions
Net cash provided by operating activities 610,305 4,972,789 precedent, the Company will collectively subscribe for JV Company Shares of an initial aggregate
Cash flows from investing activities amount of US$50,000,000 in the proportions of41%.
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,034,382) (62,231)
Purchase of intangible asset - (2,878) The principle business activities of the Company are to:
Dividend received from associate 6,193,050 4,347,763 e invest in and participate in the management of the JV Company, which will engage in the
Other assets (7,005) (85,497) development, construction, marketing, sales and operation of the Class A Project;
Net receivable under installment sales (155,013) - o  market and sell the Class A Properties to Myanmar Related Entities as exclusive agent,
Net cash provided by investing activities 4,996,650 4,197,157 and market and sell the Class A Properties to parties which are not Myanmar Related
Cash flows from financing activities Entities or Japanese Related Entities jointly with the Japanese consortium members; and
Dividend paid to shareholders (9,732,288) (8,953,705) e engage in the development of Thilawa SEZ (other than the Class A Area) or any part
Net cash used in financing activities (9,732,288) (8,953,705) thereof as may be determined by our Directors in their discretion.
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (4,125,333) 216,241
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period/year 32,343,081 32,126,840 For additional information about the Company, please refer to the Company’s Prospectus dated 27
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period/year 14 28,217,748 32,343,081 February 2014.
The registered office of the Company is No. (29), Min Ye Kyaw Swar Road (UMFCCI Tower),
The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. Lanmadaw Township, Yangon Region, the Republic of the Union of Myanmar.
The Company is listed in Yangon Stock Exchange on 20 May 2016.
2. Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.
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2.1

2.2

23

24

Basis of preparation

The accompanying financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with
Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards (MFRS) and have been based on historical cost
convention.

In preparing these financial statements, certain reclassifications and rearrangements have been
made in 31 March 2019 financial statements to conform to the classification used in 30 September
2019 financial statement.

Change in reporting period

During the period ended 30 September 2019, the Company changed its financial year end from
March (i.e. former financial year end) to September (i.e current financial year end). Accordingly,
the financial statements presented are as at and for the six months ended 30 September 2019 and the
twelve months ended 31 March 2019. As a result, the comparative figures presented in statements
of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows and the related notes are not
comparable.

The change in financial year was due to change of financial year enacted by the government.
Foreign currency translation
(1)  Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of
primary economic environment in which the Company operates (the “functional currency”). The
financial statements are presented in Myanmar Kyat, which is the presentation currency as well as
functional currency of the Company. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousands,
unless otherwise indicated.

(2) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the income statement.

Group Accounting
(a) Subsidiaries

Consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has power to
govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities, generally
accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to a majority of the voting rights. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when
assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date on which control
ceases.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions, balances and recognized gains on
transactions between group entities are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but are

2.5

2.6

considered an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests are that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of a
subsidiary attributable to the interests which are not owned directly or indirectly by the equity
holders of the Company. They are shown separately in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of financial position. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to the non-controlling interests based on their respective
interests in a subsidiary, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

(b)  Associated companies

Associated companies are entities over which the Group has significant influence, but not control,
generally accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to voting rights of 20% and above but not
exceeding 50%. Investments in associated companies are accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of accounting less impairment losses.

(c) Equity method of accounting

In applying the equity method of accounting, the Group’s share of its associated companies’ post-
acquisition profits or losses are recognized in profit or loss and its share of post-acquisition other
comprehensive income is recognized in other comprehensive income. These post-acquisition
movements and distributions received from the associated companies are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investments. When the Group’s share of losses in an associated company
equals to or exceeds its interest in the associated company, including any other unsecured non-
current receivables, the Group does not recognize further losses, unless it has obligations to make or
has made payments on behalf of the associated company.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associated companies are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the associated companies. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transactions provide evidence of impairment of the assets transferred. The accounting
policies of associated companies have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Investment in associate

Investment in associate is initially recognized at the transaction price (including transaction costs)
under the equity method of accounting and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to
recognize the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The
investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee is recognized in the investor’s profit or loss.
Distributions received from an investee reduce the carrying amount of the investment.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rental and/or capital appreciation (or both).
Investment properties are initially recognized at cost and subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is calculated using a
straight-line method to allocate the depreciable amounts over the estimated useful lives of fifty
years or the balance of land use right.

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method of investment properties are reviewed,
and adjusted as appropriate, at each statement of financial position date. The effects of any revision
are included in profit or loss when the changes arise.
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2.7

2.8

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is de-recognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit or loss
during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on assets under construction commences when the assets are ready items of property,
plant and equipment less their estimated residuals values using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful life. The estimated useful rates are as follows:

Leasehold land 2.19%
Plant 5%
Transformers 2.17%
Building 2%-2.17%
Waste storage house 5%
Machinery and equipment 20%
Motor vehicle 20%
Computer and equipment 20%
Furniture and equipment 10% - 40%
Office renovation 20%

The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
the reporting period. The effects of any revision are recognized in profit or loss when the changes
arise.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognized within ‘other gains/(losses) — net’ in the statement of comprehensive income.

Intangible assets
Accounting software

Accounting software license is initially capitalized at cost which includes the purchase prices (net
of any discounts and rebates) and other directly attributable costs of preparing the asset for its
intended use. Direct expenditures are added to the original cost of the software. Costs associated
with maintaining the accounting software license are expensed off when incurred.

Computer software license is subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortization and
accumulated impairment losses. These costs are amortized to profit or loss using the straight-line
method over their estimated useful lives of five years equivalent to 20%.

The amortization period and amortization method of intangible assets are reviewed at least at each
balance sheet date. The effects of any revision are recognized in profit or loss when the changes
arise.

2.9

2.10

2.11

2.12

2.13

Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and
contract costs are recognized as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to the stage of
completion of the contract activity at the statement of financial position date (“percentage-of-
completion method”). When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably,
contract revenue is recognized to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be
recoverable. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the
expected loss is recognized as an expense immediately.

Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included in contract revenue when it
is probable that the customer will approve the variation or negotiations have reached an advanced
stage such that it is probable that the customer will accept the claim and they are capable of being
reliably measured.

The stage of completion is measured by reference to the proportion of contract costs incurred to
date to the estimated total costs for the contract. Costs incurred during the financial year in
connection with future activity on a contract are excluded from the costs incurred to date when
determining the stage of completion of a contract. Such costs are shown as construction contract
work-in-progress on the statement of financial position unless it is not probable that such contract
costs are recoverable from the customers, in which case, such costs are recognized as an expense
immediately.

At the statement of financial position date, the cumulative costs incurred plus recognized profits
(less recognized losses) on each contract is compared against the progress billings. Where the
cumulative costs incurred plus the recognized profits (less recognized losses) exceed progress
billings, the balance is presented as due from customers on construction contracts within “trade and
other receivables”. Where progress billings exceed the cumulative costs incurred plus recognized
profits (less recognized losses), the balance is presented as due to customers on construction
contracts within “trade and other payables”.

Progress billings not yet paid by customers and retentions by customers are included within “trade
and other receivables”. Advances received are included within “trade and other payables”.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost comprises cost of land
scraping cost, infrastructure development cost, direct labour and other direct cost. Net realizable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and applicable variable selling expenses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and deposits with various local banks.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. Trade and other
receivables are reduced by appropriate allowance for estimated irrecoverable amount.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method.
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2.14

2.15

2.16

2.17

2.18

Issued and paid-up share capital

Ordinary Shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
ordinary shares are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Dividends

Dividends to the Company’s shareholders are recognized when the dividends are approved for
payment.

Employee benefits

Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by an entity in exchange for service
rendered by employees. Employee benefits are recognized as payable in the period in which the
benefits is earned by employee. Past-service costs are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events; it is a probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligations; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized for future
operating losses.

Revenue

Revenue is recognized only when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Company. Revenue is shown net of sales (after deducting commercial tax)

(a) Rendering of services — Management fees and commission fees
Fees and commission are generally recognized on an accrual basis when the service has been
provided.

(b) Sale of goods — Land
Revenue from sales of goods is recognized when the goods are delivered and title has passed to the
customer.

(c) Interest income
Interest income arising from deposit at financial institution is recognized when the effective interest
method.

(d) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established.

(e) Revenue from construction contracts
Please refer to the paragraph “construction contracts” for the accounting policy for the revenue
from construction contracts.

(f) Rental income
Rental income is recognised when earned on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

2.19 Income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The current income tax is calculated on the
basic of the tax rate and tax law enacted or substantially enacted at the end of the reporting period.
Current income tax is recognized in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is recognised on the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the
liability is settled or the asset realised based on the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in
profit or loss, except when they relate to items credited or debited outside profit or loss (either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity), in which case the tax is also recognised outside
profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively).

Significant accounting judgments and estimates

The preparation of the Company's financial statements in conformity with MFRS requires
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies and the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

Estimate and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to accounting
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future period
affected.

Infrastructure development costs

Infrastructure development costs of land are recorded as inventories during the construction stage
and an apportionment of these costs will be recognized in the statement of comprehensive income
upon the recognition of the revenue of the land under development.

These infrastructure costs comprise of awarded contracts and an estimation of future ones. The total
costs were estimated by a third-party professional Quantity Surveyor and periodically re-validated
internally.

Before the final settlement of the development costs and other costs relating to the land under
development, these costs are based on management’s best estimate. Where the final settlement of
costs and the related cost allocation is different from the initial estimates, any increase or decrease
in the development costs and other costs would affect the profit or loss in future years.

Financial risk management

The Group’s financial risk management policy seeks to ensure that adequate financial resources are
available for the development of the Group’s business whilst managing its risks. In addition to the
risk factors as stated in the Company’s Prospectus dated 27 February 2014, the main areas of
financial risks faced by the Group and the policy in respect of the major areas of treasury activity
are set out as follows:
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However, the Group does not hedge its exposures to foreign exchange risk as

The maximum credit risk associated with recognized financial assets is the carrying amount shown
in the statement of financial position. However, policies had been established by the Group to

The Group monitors and maintains a level of bank balances deemed adequate by the directors to

finance the operation and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash flow.
The Group’s objectives, when managing its capital, are to safeguard and maintain adequate working

The Group has exposure to foreign exchange risk due to assets and liabilities denominated in
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7. Intangible asset The following amounts represent the assets and the liabilities and income and expenses of the associate.

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) Software USD (In Thousands) 30 September 2019 31 March 2019
Cost Owner-ship 41% 41%
Balance at 1 April 2019 11,495 Current assets 65,792 63,773
Addition - Non-current assets 13,631 12,047
Write off — Total assets 79,423 75,820
Balance at 30 September 2019 11,495 Current liabilities 20,092 18,936
Accumulated amortization and impairment losses Non-current liabilities 1,859 1,632
Balance at 1 April 2019 (5,301) Total liabilities 21,951 20,568
ﬁ‘nn;‘;ﬁﬁa;‘t’?oss (1,122) Net assets 57,472 55,252
Write off -
Balance at 30 September 2019 (6,423) Income 34,286 42,966
Expenses (22,066) (24,620)
Net book value Profit 12,220 18,346
At 30 September 2019 5,072
Cost Share of profit 5,010 7,522
Balance at 1 April 2018 8,617
Addition 2,878 9.  Other investment (MMK 10,000,000)
Write off _
Balance at 31 March 2019 11,495 The above amount represents investment in Myanmar Kyauk Phyu SEZ Holding Consortium Public Co.,
Accumulated amortization and impairment losses Ltd by the Company.
Balance at 1 April 2018 (3,182)
Amortisation (2,119) 10. Investment property
Impairment loss -
Write off - Land and
Balance at 31 March 2019 (5,301) Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) building
Net book value Cost
At 31 March 2019 6,194 Balance at 1 April 2019 4,877,222
Transferred from inventories 112,360
8.  Investment in associate Balance at 30 September 2019 4,989,582
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 30 September2019 31 March 2019 Balancc? a'F 1 April 2019 (211,366)
Opening balance 27,687,506 20,608,500 Depreciation (33,525)
Proportionate net profit for the period/ year 7,679,950 11,395,054 Impairment loss -
Dividend received (6,193,050) (4,347,763) Balance at 30 September 2019 (264,891)
Unrealised profit adjustment 94,452 31,715 Unrealised profit adjustment (128,544)
Carrying value as at 30 September 2019 29,268,858 27,687,506 Net book value
At 30 September 2019 4,596,147
The Company's share of profit in its equity-accounted investee (i.e, Myanmar Japan Thilawa Cost .
Development Limited) for the period was Kyats 7,679,950,424.10 (USD 5,010,406.07 @ Kyats Balance at 1 April 2018 4,202,380
1532.80) (31 March 2019: Profit Kyats 11,395,053,319.22 (USD 7,521,983.84 @ Kyats 1514.9). The Transferred from inventories 674,842
equity accounted investee is not publicly listed entity and consequentially does not have published Balance at 31 March 2019 4,877,222
price quotations. Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at 1 April 2018 (105,059)
Depreciation (106,307)
Impairment loss -
Balance at 31 March 2019 (211,366)
Unrealised profit adjustment (130,465)

Net book value
At 31 March 2019 4,535,391




The company investment property at 30 September 2019 include three buildings of workers
accommodation at recreational and commercial area of Thilawa SEZ. The Directors are of the view that a
fair value of the property cannot be ascertained at 30 September 2019. The opinion is based on the
following facts:

1 There is no such asset of this specification in Thilawa;

2. There is no history of such similar property transacted in Thilawa; and

3. No sales of any asset type have been recorded in the Thilawa SEZ.

As such, it is not possible for a valuation to be done on a willing-buyer / willing-seller basis. As such, the
market comparable approach cannot be adopted. To value the property using the income capitalization
approach, the property has to be given sufficient time for leasing, and stabilization of that yield, for the
capitalization rate to be applied. Since occupation permit was only quite recently obtained, the rental
process is only in the beginning stage. Hence, the income capitalization approach cannot be adopted.

Given that the first two valuation methods cannot be applied, the third would be the cost approach. This
assumes that a reasonable buyer would have to pay equal or more than the cost of constructing a
comparable building. The Cost Approach is probably the most prudent in estimating the book /
reinstatement value of such an asset at 31 March 2019.

During the period from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019, two units of shop houses have been transferred
from inventory to investment property at their cost. Improvement works are carried out in the ground floor
of workers accommodation in the period of 1 April 2019 to 30 September 2019 for rent to restaurants
operators, and recognised as investment property at cost. As of 30 September 2019, the company
investment property includes:

1. Three buildings of workers accommodation

2. One unit of type A shop house facing main road

3. One unit of type B shop house facing internal road

Details of the group’s investment properties and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 30
September 2019 are as follows:

Fair Value as at
30 September

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2019
Investment property
Workers accommodation 8,758,882 8,758,882
Unit A — Main road 433,785 433,785
Unit B — Internal road 363,605 363,605

For unit A — Main road, the fair value was derived using the market comparable approach based on recent
market price of similar property with adjustment made for frontage.

For unit B — internal road, the fair value was derived using the market comparable approach based on
recent market prices of similar property without any significant adjustments being made.

For investment properties categorized into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, the following information is
relevant:
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Investment Valuation Significant unobservable

. . nsitivi

Property Technique input(s) Sensitivity

Workers Income Capitalization rate Increase in the capitalization rate

accommodation capitalization used would result decrease in fair
approach value, and vice versa.

Occupancy rate Decrease in the occupancy rate usc
would result decrease in

fair value, and vice versa.
Monthly rental Decrease in the monthly rental use
would result decrease in

fair value, and vice versa.
There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 and into or out of Level 3 during the period.
The fair value of investment properties is not based on valuation by an independent valuer.
The property rental income from the group’s investment properties all of which are leased out under
operating lease, amounted to MMK 187,730 (thousand). Direct operating expenses (including repairs and

maintenance) arising from the rental —generating investment properties amounted to MMK 95,049
(thousand).

11. Deferred tax assets
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate
to the same fiscal authority. The amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown on the
financial position as follows:
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 30 September 2019 31 March 2019
Deferred tax assets
To be recovered within one year — -
To be recovered after one year 11,897 12,060
11,897 12,060
12. Net receivable under installment sales

The company sells its shop houses under installment plan during the period ended 30 September 2019.
Net present value of installment payments to be received are recognised as revenue and receivable. The
company use interest rate implicit in the contract as discount rate to measure the net present value. These
properties are de-recognised from the inventory and carrying amount is recognised under cost of sales.
The selling profit is the difference between revenue and cost of sales.

The company recognize the finance income and allocate over the installment term.
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(a) Selling profit from installment sales

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands)

1 April 2019 to
30 September 2019

1 April 2018 to
31 March 2019

Selling profit

160,296

(b) Receivable under installment sales

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands)

30 September 2019

31 March 2019

Gross receivable under installment sales 234,375 -
Less: Unearned finance income (51,401) —
182,974 -
Less: current portion (Note 15) (27,961) -
155,013 —

(¢) Undiscounted installment payments to be received

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands)

30 September 2019

31 March 2019

Within one year 45,000 -
Second to fifth years 189,375 -
234,375 —

13.

Other assets

Other assets include the project initial cost in Logistics Dependent Industrial Area (MMK 85,497,000)
and MyitKyiNar Economic Development Zone (MMK 7,005,000).

14.

Cash and cash equivalents

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 30 September 2019 31 March 2019
Cash in hand 18,448 20,213
Cash at bank — current 26,931,484 30,951,037
Cash at bank — saving 1,242,854 1,358,119
Cash at bank — call 24,962 13,712

28,217,748 32,343,081

15. Trade and other receivables
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 30 September 2019 31 March 2019
Trade receivables from
- Related parties* 263,948 260,866
- Non-related parties 370,362 399,106
Other receivable from
- Non-related parties 10,350 9,559
- Net receivable under installment sales (Note 12) 27,961 -
Construction contract
- Due from related parties 247,772 325,196
Accrued income
- Related parties 606,443 588,936
- Non-related parties 20,992 12,198
Deposit 18,090 17,040
Prepayments & advance 76,194 56,274
Advance income tax 28,704 336,923
Advance commercial tax 883,502 880,093

2,554,318 2,886,191

* It comprises management services fees receivable from Myanmar Japan Thilawa Development Limited
(MITD).

16. Inventories
Inventories include cost of leasehold land acquired from Myanmar Japan Thilawa Development Limited
(MITD) for the development of residential and commercial area of Thilawa Special Economic Zone. It
also includes the cost of land scraping, infrastructure development, shop houses construction and fencing
the water treatment plant.

17. Construction contract

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 30 September 2019 31 March 2019
Construction contract work in progress

Beginning of financial period/year 44,911 185,007
Contract costs incurred 371,407 1,565,921
Contract expenses recognised in profit or loss (400,048) (1,706,017)
End of financial period/year 16,270 44,911
Aggregate costs incurred and profits recognised (less losses 644,981 2,329,222
recognised) to date on uncompleted construction contracts

Less: Progress billing (375,044) (1,904,527)
Unbilled to customers current financial period/year 269,937 424,695
Due from related party on construction contracts (Note 15)

Billed to customer 247,772 325,196
Unbilled to customers — current financial period/year 269,937 424,695
Unbilled to customers — previous financial year 336,506 164,241
End of financial period/year 854,215 914,132
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18. Issued and paid-up share capital Sales commission

The above comprises commission fees income from MJTD for the successful contracts between MJTD

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands)

No. of ordinary shares issued

Issued and fully paid-up
share capital

30 September 31 March

30 September 31 March

2019 2019

2019 2019

Beginning of financial period/year
Issued of shares

38,929,150 38,929,150

38,929,150 38,929,150

End of financial period/ year

38,929,150 38,929,150

38,929,150 38,929,150

and its customers whom introduced by the Company.

Construction revenue

The above mainly comprises of a road construction contract and construction of rental factory B

extension from MJTD.

Sale of land
19. Trade and oth bl
rade and other payables The above comprise of sale of land to Myanmar Apex Bank Limited.
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 30 September 2019 31 March 2019 R i
Trade payables to non-related parties 167,488 8,442 ental income
Construction contract-due to supplier 603,262 634,866 The above comprises of rental of rooms in dormitory and shop house.
Other payables to
- Related parties - 149,932 1.
- Non-related parties 250,040 145,478 Sale of building
Deposit from suppliers 207,986 380,547 . . . .
Accrued expenses 56.856 136,515 Bl; above comprises of sale of shop houses to JMM Core Ltd and Pangolin Protective Equipment Co.,
Unpaid dividend 703,525 869,533 '
Deferred rental income Tel cati
- Related parties - 55,106 ¢lecommunication
. Non-relqted parties 71,576 72,352 The above comprises of fixed element and revenue sharing variable element for granting access of fiber
Commercial tax 73,761 7,868 . L . .
optic cable to telecommunication service provider.
2,134,494 2,460,639
21.  Other income
20. Revenue
1 April 2019 to 1 April 2018 to
1 April 2019 to 1 April 2018 to Myanmar Kyat ( In Thousands) 30 September 2019 31 March 2019
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 30 September 2019 31 March 2019 Interest income 485,967 1,337,809
Management fees 500,085 991,282 Tender income - 800
Sales commission — 1,272,275 Utilities income 101,031 57,280
Construction revenue 626,967 2,238,089 Miscellaneous income 7,459 17,013
Sale of 'land - 703,543 594,457 1,412,902
Rental income 177,684 148,190
Sale of building 827,974 - :
Telecommunication 17,027 28,800 22.  Other gains/(losses)
2,149,737 5,382,179 1 April 2019 to 1 April 2018 to
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 30 September 2019 31 March 2019
Management fees Currency exchange gains 400,974 2,683,506
400,974 2,683,506

Management fees are received from Myanmar Japan Thilawa Development Limited (MJTD) in
consideration of management services provided by the Company for the following personnel;

(1) Chairman
(2) Vice President (Myanmar Desk)
(3) Head of Finance & Accounting

(4) Head of Administration & Human Resources
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23.  Expenses by nature 25. Earnings per share
1 April 2019 to 1 Aprll 2018 to Basic earnings per share
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 30 September 2019 31 March 2019
Land cost - 278,963 Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the
Construction contract cost 400,048 1,706,017 Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial period and
Cost of rental and utilities 164,028 131,726 year.
Building cost - shop house 510,313 -
Write off - property, plant and equipment 309 696 1 April 2019 to 1 April 2018 to
Deprec%ation of property, plant and equipment 157,804 274,258 Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 30 September 2019 31 March 2019
Depreciation of investment property 53,525 106,307 Net profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the 8,203,303 15,487,486
Amortisation of intangible asset 1,122 2,1 19 Company (Myanmar Kyat in thousands)
Employee benefit expenses (Note 23-a) 348,705 679,747 Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for 38,929 38,929
Key management personal and director compensations (Note 26-b) 522,971 861,786 basic earnings per share (shares in thousands)
Advertising and agency fees expense 19,731 206,606 Basic earnings per share 211 308
Rental expense 103,305 181,917
Transportation expense 17.450 83327 Per value of shares (Myanmar Kyat) 1,000 1,000
Listing expense 4,353 6,393 -
Other expense 347,043 561,507 26. Related party transactions
Unrealised profit adjustment (100,589) (122,573)
In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the following
2,550,118 4,958,796 transactions took place between the holding company and the related parties at terms agreed between the
parties:

23-a. Employee benefit expenses
(a) Sales and purchase of goods and services
1 April 2019 to 1 April 2018 to

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 30 September 2019 31 March 2019 1 April 2019 to 1 April 2018 to
Wages and salaries 260,936 475,245 Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 30 September 2019 31 March 2019
Other benefits 87,769 204,502 Management fees from MJTD 500,085 991,282

Sales commission fees from MJTD - 1,272,275

348,705 679,747 Construction revenue from MJTD 626,967 2,238,089

24.  Income tax expense Other related parties comprise mainly companies which are controlled or significantly influenced by the

) holding company’s key management personnel which are as follows:
1 April 2019 to 1 April 2018 to

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 30 September 2019 31 March 2019 No. Company Name Related Position 1 April 2019 1 April 2018
Current ta?( expenses Executives to to
Current period/year - 293,993 30 September 31 March
Deferred income tax 163 (3,881) 2019 2019
Changes in estimates related to prior years 14,226 14,342 Kyats *000 Kyats 000
14,389 304,454 1 Union of Myanmar U Thein Han Director 103,305 181,887

Federation of Chamber
ofCommerce & Industry

(Rent of Head office)
2 Sinma Construction U KyawKyaw Win  Alternative - 2,177
Group Ltd (New office Director
renovation)
3 CB Securities U KhinMaung Aye  Vice Chairman 2,500 2,500
4 Information Matrix U Thaung Su Nyein Alternative — 26,378
Director
5 IM Ringer Co.,Ltd U Thaung Su Nyein Alternative — 131,413
Director

Outstanding balances of related parties as at 30 September 2019 are disclosed in Notes 15 and 19
respectively.



1110 MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC CO.,LTD ANNUAL REPORT 2019 7111/

(b) Key management personnel and director compensation

1 April 2019 to 1 April 2018 to
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 30 September 2019 31 March 2019
Director remuneration 36,000 72,000
Director bonus - 149,932
Key management personnel remuneration (April 2019 to 30
September 2019) 332,199 576,203
Key management personnel remuneration (December 2016
to March 2019) 154,772 -
Key management bonus - 63,651

522,971 861,786

() Significant agreements with related parties

Management fees

The Company entered into management memorandums with MJTD for which to provide management
services. Under the term of these memorandums, the Company is entitled to receive management fees as
stipulated in the memorandum and will expire in December 2022.

Commission fees

The Company entered into marketing agreements with MJTD for which to provide with information in
respect to potential locators and coordination services. Under the term of the agreements, the Company is
entitled to receive commission fees at 6% of the contract price. The term of the agreements is for five
years and shall be extended for further period by notify in writing at least 30 days prior to expiration of
this agreement.

27.

Authorization of financial statements

The financial statements of the Company for the period ended 30 September 2019 were authorized for
issue on 13 December 2019.
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I I CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
A opprcy-. Room (2B/2C) 1% Floor, Rose Condominium, No.182/194, Botahtaung Pagoda Read, Pazundaung Township.

Yangon Region, Myanmar, Tel : 95-1-201798, 296164, Fax: 95-1-245671 Email : winthin®@myanmar.com.mm

WANDALAY BRANCH Room (%10), East Wing of Bahtoo Stadium, 70% Street (Between 29 & 30% Street),
OFFICE Mandalay Region , Myanmar. Tel : 95-2-34451 , Fax: 95-2-34498
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MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC CO., LTD.
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SHWE ZABU RIVER VIEW COMPLEX, 23G-1, NO.3B, TOWER (A),
PENTHOUSE- 01 & 02, STRAND ROAD, AHLIONE TOWNSHIP,
YANGON, MYANMAR.
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ASSOCIATE
MYANMAR JAPAN THILAWA DEVELOPMENT LIMITED

Company Registration No. 103789656

JU ooameepqtion&zacnpdiy[at:

[45629800d13205(8)5B:@05 03x(c5)3E2(8) 00D Py ABBodASEl Joop 9581 ©a5EEEIMCL (Po)god
650788056000 TDAMBGEEINIRAROS DANEE:4E:08:60IC:q0ad Joop 9561 Balomco (0p)god 65038
30502033 61 8de{godqo5326 0005[gSes 32005(gRClaRS

ADMINITRATION BUILDING, MJTD OFFICE,
DAGON THILAWA ROAD, THILAWA SEZ,

._--J" r
?/

,_ ////’//L

THANLYIN TOWNSHIP, YANGON

..-
[—
i

{7

—-—-
-

.
i

SUBSIDIARY
THILAWA PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT LIMITED

Company Registration N0.101952428
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R&C AREA, ZONE (A), KYAUK TAN TOWNSHIP, YANGON, MYANMAR
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AUDITOR
WIN THIN & ASSOCIATES (CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT)
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INVESTOR INQUIRES
MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC CO., LTD.

SHWE ZABU RIVER VIEW COMPLEX, 23G-1, NO.3B, TOWER (A),
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PENTHOUSE- 01 & 02, STRAND ROAD, AHLIONE TOWNSHIP,
YANGON, MYANMAR

TEL: +9512301772, 2301773, 2301853

WEB: www.mtshmyanmar .com
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MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC CO.,LTD

Shwe Zabu River View Complex : 23G-1, No.3B, Tower (A),
9" Floor (Penthouse), Strand Road, Ahlone Township, Yangon, Myanmar.
Tel : +951 2301772, 2301773, 2301853
E-mail : info(@mtshmyanmar.com

Website : www.mtshmyanmar.com





